# LOW LEVEL LASER THERAPY ON HUMAN ADIPOSE TISSUE DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

by

# Perihan Selcan Güngör

B.S., Bioengineering, Ege University, 2005

Submitted to the Institute of Biomedical Engineering in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biomedical Engineering

> Boğaziçi University August, 2007

# LOW LEVEL LASER THERAPY ON HUMAN ADIPOSE TISSUE DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

### **APPROVED BY:**

Prof. Dr. Semra Kahraman

Asst. Prof. Dr. Ata Akın

DATE OF APPROVAL: 02 August 2007

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisors Assist. Prof. Dr. Murat Gülsoy and Prof. Dr. Semra Kahraman for their support, patience and help. I would also like to thank Özgüncem Bozkulak and H. Özgür Tabakoğlu for their encouragement.

I would like to thank Assist. Prof. Dr. Ata Akın for being a member of my thesis committee.

I want to thank Assoc. Prof. Nezih Hekim to introduce me to Prof. Dr. Semra Kahraman.

I would like to thank İstanbul Memorial Hospital – IVF Department for their equipment support throughout my Master's study. I would also like to thank all members of ART and Reproductive Genetics Centre of İstanbul Memorial Hospital, especially Zafer Nihat Candan and Ayla Eker Sarıboyacı who helped me throughout this project with their knowledge, ideas and especially with their friendship.

Last, I would like to thank my family, especially my nephews Yasemin and Merve for their moral support throughout my studies.

Babama...

Perihan Selcan Güngör

#### ABSTRACT

# LOW LEVEL LASER THERAPY ON HUMAN ADIPOSE TISSUE DERIVED MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS

Recent in vitro studies on cell cultures provided that low level lasers have various biostimulatory effects on several tissues. Biostimulation of tissues and cells is an important issue in Tissue Engineering Applications like regeneration from stem cells. Therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) from bone marrow or umbilical cord are now being tested for many lethal and chronic disorders worldwide; however the clinical use of these MSCs has presented problems. Current results indicate that adipose tissue can be a novel and abundant source for adult MSCs. In this study, the effects of 650 nm and 635 nm diode laser on proliferation of human adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells were examined. Two different dosages (1,6 J/cm2 and 3,2 J/cm2) were applied for both two wavelengths. 24 h after seeding, irradiation was started. Cells were exposed to laser irradiation for three consecutive days. Cells were counted at 5th, 9th, 14th and 21st days after seeding. It was observed that the extent of enhancement of the cell proliferation by 650 nm diode laser was significantly higher relative to control group at 14th day. 635 nm diode laser application results showed significantly higher growing enhancement relative to control group on 5th day.

**Keywords:** Low Level Laser Therapy, Biostimulation, Mesenchymal Stem Cell, Cell Proliferation.

### ÖZET

# İNSAN YAĞ DOKUSUNDAN ELDE EDİLEN MEZENKİMAL KÖK HÜCRELERDE DÜŞÜK DÜZEY LASER TERAPİSİ

Son dönemlerde hücre kültürleri ile yapılan in vitro çalışmalar, düşük düzey laserlerin farklı dokularda çeşitli biyo-uyarım etkilerinin olduğunu göstermiştir. Doku ve hücrelerin biyo-uyarımı, kök hücrelerden rejenerasyon gibi Doku Mühendisliği Uygulamaları'nda önemli bir konudur. Göbek kordonu ve kemik iliğinden elde edilen mezenkimal kök hücrelerin (MKH) birçok ölümcül ve kronik hastalık için tedavi potansiyelleri tüm dünyada denenmektedir; fakat bu hücrelerin klinik uygulamalarında problemler çıkmaktadır. Yakın zamanda yürütülen çalışma sonuçları yağ dokusunun yetişkin MKH'ler için yeni ve bol bir kaynak olabileceğini göstermektedir. Bu çalışmada, 650 nm ve 635 nm diyot laserlerin, insan yağ dokusundan elde edilen mezenkimal kök hücrelerin çoğalması üzerine etkisi araştırılmıştır. Her iki dalgaboyu için iki farklı doz (1,6 J/cm2 and 3,2 J/cm2) kullanılmıştır. Ekimden 24 s sonra radyasyon başlatılmıştır. Hücreler ard arda üç gün boyunca laser ışımasına maruz bırakılmıştır. Hücreler ekimden sonraki 5., 9., 14. ve 21. günlerde sayılmıştır. 650 nm laserin hücre çoğalmasındaki artışa etkisinin 14. günde kontrolden daha fazla olduğu gözlenmiştir. 635 nm laser uygulaması, 5. günde kontrole göre büyümede daha yüksek bir artış göstermiştir.

Anahtar Sözcükler: Düşük Düzey Laser Terapisi, Biyo-uyarım, Mezenkimal Kök Hücre, Hücre Çoğalması.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

AC	CKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	iii
AE	BSTR	АСТ	iv
ÖZ	ΈT		v
LIS	ST O	F FIGURES	viii
LIS	ST O	F TABLES	ix
LIS	ST O	F SYMBOLS	х
LIS	ST O	F ABBREVIATIONS	xi
1.	INT	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Motivation	1
	1.2	Outline	2
2.	BAG	CKGROUND	4
	2.1	Stem Cells	4
		2.1.1 General Properties of Stem Cells	4
		2.1.2 Types of Stem Cells	5
	2.2	Low level Laser Therapy	16
		2.2.1 Mechanism of Low Level Laser Therapy	17
		2.2.2 Low Level Laser Therapy Applications	22
	2.3	Low level Laser Therapy for Stem Cells	25
3.	OBJ	ECTIVE	29
4.	ME	THODS	31
	4.1	Consent, Cell Derivation and Identification	31
	4.2	Cell Thawing and Cultivation	31
	4.3	Laser Irradiation	34
	4.4	Experimental Groups	36
	4.5	Cell Counting	37
	4.6	Statistical Analysis	37

5.	RESULTS AND	DISCUSSION	 	39
6.	CONCLUSION		 	58
RE	FERENCES		 	59

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Directed differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells	9
Figure 2.2	Action and absorption spectras	19
Figure 2.3	Model of cytochrome c oxidase	20
Figure 2.4	Optical window	21
Figure 4.1	Incubation of stem cells	33
Figure 4.2	Photographs of ADMSCs	33
Figure 4.3	8 wells used of a 96 well plate	35
Figure 4.4	Laser application	35
Figure 4.5	Cell counting	37
Figure 5.1	Counting of 650 nm laser application for Day 5	40
Figure 5.2	Counting of 650 nm laser application for Day 9	41
Figure 5.3	Counting of 650 nm laser application for Day 14	42
Figure 5.4	Counting of 650 nm laser application for Day 21	44
Figure 5.5	Counting of 635 nm laser application for Day 5	46
Figure 5.6	Counting of 635 nm laser application for Day 9	47
Figure 5.7	Counting of 635 nm laser application for Day 14	48
Figure 5.8	Counting of 635 nm laser application for Day 21	50
Figure 5.9	Proliferation rates on days 5, 9, 14 and 21	50
Figure 6.1	Proliferation rates of laser groups	53
Figure 6.2	Growth curves	55

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1	Chemical and Biological Products used	32
Table 4.2	Experimental Groups	36
Table 5.1	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 5 of 650 nm laser	39
Table 5.2	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 9 of 650 nm laser	41
Table 5.3	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 14 of 650 nm laser	42
Table 5.4	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 21 of 650 nm laser	43
Table 5.5	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 5 of 635 nm laser	45
Table 5.6	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 9 of 635 nm laser	46
Table 5.7	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 14 of 635 nm laser	48
Table 5.8	Counting and Statistical Analysis for Day 21 of 635 nm laser	49
Table 5.9	Overall ANOVA results for all counting days	51

## LIST OF SYMBOLS

p-value	Probability value in <i>t</i> -test
Fcr-value	F critic value of ANOVA
°C	Degree Celsius
Cu	Cupper

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

LASER	Light Amplification by Stimulated Emission of Radiation
MSCs	Mesenchymal Stem Cells
ESCs	Embryonic Stem Cells
BMSCs	Bone Marrow Stem Cells
ADMCs	Adipose Tissue Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells
LLLT	Low Level Laser Therapy
hADMSCs	Human Adipose Tissue Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells
ASCs	Adult Stem Cells
IVF	In Vitro Fertilization
SSCs	Somatic Stem Cells
CD	Cell Differentiation
ICM	Inner Cell Mass
HFEA	Human Fertilization and Embryology Authority
HSCs	Hematopoietic Stem Cells
KDR	Kinase Insert Domain Containing Receptor
mdx	Dystrophin-Deficient Mice
lin–	Lineage –
CFU-AP	Colony Forming Unit - Alkaline Phosphatase
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
SVF	Stroma Vascular Fraction
PBM	Photobiomodulation
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
cyt	Cytochrome
IR	Infra-Red
Redox	Oxidation-Reduction Reaction
GaAlAs	Gallium-Aluminum-Arsenium
RANK	Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor-Kappa-B
OP	Osteopontin

BSP	Bone Sialoprotein
He-Ne	Hellium-Neon
ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase
Ga-As	Gallium Arsenide
GM-CFC	Granulocyte–Macrophage Colony Forming Cells
SDF-1	Stromal Cell-Derived Factor-1 Alpha
FDCP-mix	Factor-Dependent Cell Paterson mix
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
EDS	Electron Dispersive Spectrometry
CSCs	Cardiac Stem Cells
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
PBS	Phosphate-Buffered Saline
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Minimal Essential Medium
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
L-Glutamine	Glutamine with Amino Group on Left
EDTA	Ethylenediamine Tetraacetic Acid
DMSO	Dimethyl Sulfoxide
SD	Standard Deviations
St. Sign.	Statistically Significant
DNA	Deoxyribo Nucleic Acid
RNA	Ribo Nucleic Acid
mW	Milliwatt
Hz	Hertz
С	Control Group
L1	Laser Group 1
L2	Laser Group 2
J	Joule
n	Sample Size
ml	Milliliter
μl	Microliter
mg	Milligram
nm	Nanometer

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 Motivation

Stem cells differ from other kinds of cells in the body. All stem cells -regardless of their source- have three general properties: being unspecialized, giving capable of dividing and renewing themselves for long periods and rising to specialized cell types such as a muscle cell, a red blood cell or a brain cell. With the remarkable potential to develop into many different cell types, they serve as a sort of repair system for the body.

Therapeutic potential of stem cells from bone marrow or umbilical cord are now being tested for many lethal and chronic disorders worldwide. However, the clinical uses of bone marrow derived and umbilical cord derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) have presented problems including pain, morbidity, and low cell number upon harvest. On the other hand, although the potential of embryonic stem cells (ESCs) is enormous, many ethical and political issues accompany their use. This has led many researchers to investigate alternative sources for MSCs.

Adipose tissue is derived from the embryonic mesenchyme and contains a supportive stroma structure which is similar to the bone marrow MSCs (BMSCs) and researches have proved that adipose tissue derived MSCs (ADMSCs) can be induced into multiple lineages in specific culture systems similar to bone marrow and umbilical cord MSCs. Moreover, ADMSCs are much more abundant, easier to obtain, there is much less cell heterogeneity and also adipose tissue has a large number of cells. They are also capable of expressing multiple growth factors. Therefore, it is believed that ADMSCs represent an ideal substitute for other stem cells used in Cell-based Tissue Engineering, Bioengineering and Regenerative Medicine Applications.

Scientists in many laboratories are trying to find ways to grow stem cells and manipulate them to generate specific cell types *in vitro*. And recent *in vitro* studies suggest that in response to suitable microenvironments and/or stimuli stem cells can be expanded

2

and terminally differentiated into other specific cell types. One such inducing factor might be low level laser therapy (LLLT) which has been shown to have a variety of biostimulatory effects, such as promotion of wound healing, cell proliferation and regeneration.

LLLT application can also be beneficial to enhance the proliferation of ADMSCs. Importantly, in an injured or an ischemic organ like the heart, brain, etc. the time of implantation post-ischemia/injury may be crucial to achieve maximum beneficial clinical effect. Furthermore, since LLLT has been shown to induce a cytoprotective effect on cells the laser-irradiated cells may have a better long-term survival post-implantation and can serve better as stem cells for production of growth factors in the host organ or participate in the regenerative process.

Today's scientific interest in Tissue Engineering for organ transplantations and regeneration from stem cells, combined with recent observations on biostimulation of tissues and cells by laser radiation, stands as a strong motivation for the present work.

A broad literature exists on the use of LLLT in various experimental biological models. However there have been a few studies for LLLT on stem cells and although positive results of these studies, there have been no sufficient work for optimum parameters of LLLT for different stem cell types yet and need further investigations. Moreover, as far as it is concerned, there has been no work on LLLT for ADMSCs.

The major aim of this experimental study is to assess the effects of 650 nm diode laser and 635 nm diode laser irradiation on human adipose tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells (hADMSCs) *in vitro*.

#### 1.2 Outline

In Chapter 2, general properties of stem cells, major types of stem cells with their specific properties and various application areas are explained to clear the importance of

stem cells. LLLT mechanism hypothesizes are viewed to be able to interpret the results of this study. A broad review of recent literature is given for LLLT applications on different cell types and also stem cells that used to choose optimum parameters for this application.

Chapter 3 clearly demonstrates the importance of this study and explains how every step of the study was planned and what their specific reasons are.

Chapter 4 gives detailed information about materials and methods used in this study such as cell thawing, cultivation, laser irradiation parameters, experimental groups, cell counting and statistical analysis.

Results about the effects of low level laser irradiation in two different wavelengths are shown in Chapter 5. Effects of different energy dosages and comparisons of groups for various time intervals were also shown to be able to discuss the results more clearly.

In Chapter 6, a brief discussion of overall results and contribution of this study for further scientific works can be found.

#### 2. BACKGROUND

#### 2.1 Stem Cells

#### 2.1.1 General Properties of Stem Cells

Research on stem cells is advancing knowledge about how an organism develops from a single cell and how healthy cells replace damaged cells in adult organisms. This promising area of science is also leading scientists to investigate the possibility of cellbased therapies to treat disease, which is often referred to as regenerative medicine [1]. A stem cell is traditionally defined as a cell that is capable of self-renewing and differentiating into an unlimited number of different cell types [2, 3] such as the beating cells of the heart muscle [4, 5] or the insulin-producing cells of the pancreas [6].

Scientists primarily work with two kinds of stem cells from animals and humans: ESCs and adult stem cells (ASCs), which have different functions and characteristics. Researchers discovered ways to obtain or derive stem cells from early mouse embryos more than 20 years ago. Many years of detailed study of the biology of mouse stem cells led to the discovery, in 1998 (James Thomson et al), of how to isolate stem cells from human embryos and grow the cells in the laboratory. The embryos used in these studies were created for infertility purposes through *in vitro* fertilization (IVF) procedures and when they were no longer needed for that purpose, they were donated for research with the informed consent of the donor.

Stem cells are important for living organisms for many reasons. They are crucial for the cell homeostasis of the body, primarily because their main role is to compensate for the natural loss of cells fulfilling specialized functions [7]. In the 3 to 5 day-old embryo, called a blastocyst, stem cells in developing tissues give rise to the multiple specialized cell types that make up the heart, lung, skin, and other tissues. In some adult tissues, such as bone

marrow, muscle and brain, discrete populations of ASCs generate replacements for cells that are lost through injury or disease [1].

The differentiation potential or plasticity of a stem cell is its ability to produce progeny that express various mature phenotypes. The maintenance of many tissues and organs is achieved by tissue-specific stem cells. In general, stem cells divide very rarely, but in the presence of an appropriate stimulus, for example an increasing demand for cells, they proliferate and differentiate [8].

It has been hypothesized by scientists that stem cells may, at some point in the future, become the basis for treating diseases such as Parkinson's disease, diabetes, Alzheimer's disease, cancer and heart disease. Today, donated organs and tissues are often used to replace those that are diseased or destroyed. Unfortunately, the number of people needing transplants far exceeds the number of organs available. Stem cells offer the potential for supplying cells and tissues, which can be used to treat these various diseases [9]. In order to develop such treatments, scientists are intensively studying the fundamental properties of stem cells, which include determining precisely how stem cells remain unspecialized and self renewing for many years and identifying the signals that cause stem cells to become specialized cells.

#### 2.1.2 Types of Stem Cells

All human beings start their lives from a single cell, called the zygote, which is formed after fertilization. The zygote divides and forms two cells; each of those cells divides again, and so on. Soon, about five days after conception, there is hollow ball of about 150 cells called the blastocyst. The blastocyst contains two types of cells, the trophoblast and the inner cell mass. ESCs are the cells that make up the inner cell mass. As ESCs can form all cell types in an adult, they are referred to as pluripotent stem cells.

Stem cells can be found in very small numbers in various tissues in the adult body. For instance, BMSCs are found in the marrow of the bone and they give rise to all specialized blood cell types. ASCs are typically programmed to form different cell types of their own tissue; they are called multipotent stem cells. ASCs have not yet been identified in all vital organs. In some tissues like the brain, although stem cells exist, they are not very active, and thus do not readily respond to cell injury or damage. Scientists are now also exploring ways in which they can induce the stem cells already present to grow and make the right cell types to replace the damaged ones.

Stem cells can also be obtained from sources like the umbilical cord of a newborn baby [10, 11]. This is an accessible source of stem cells, compared to adult tissues like the brain and bone marrow. Although scientists can grow these cells in culture dishes, they can do so only for a limited time. Recently, scientists have discovered the existence of stem cells in amniotic fluid -surrounds an unborn baby- [12 - 14] and stem cells in placenta [13, 15] and these cells may also have the potential to form multiple cell types. Research to characterize and study these cells is very promising but at a very early stage.

They are hard to identify all cell types of the body. Their main physiologic characteristic, their ability to divide indefinitely, does not represent a useful marker for identification. Currently, the main cell surface markers for isolation of somatic stem cells (SSCs) come from the haematopoietic lineage such as the cell differentiation (CD) markers CD34 and CD133. Whether there are unique cell surface markers for stem cells is still an area of debate as those found so far can appear, disappear and reappear [16]. There are stem cell markers for ESCs; however these appear to have different expression between the various human ESCs lines [17].

The shared properties of stem cells, as well as their distinguishing features, have fascinated and puzzled the research communities for more than three decades. The need to understand the basis of multiple lineages potential arises from both a practical aspiration to use stem cells effectively for medical research and from the point of view of elaborating in detail how cell-fate decisions are made and memorized [18].

Stem cells are classically defined as cells that can both self-renew and generate progeny that are capable of following more than a single differentiation pathway, unlikely any specific adult cell. In the case of ESCs, which are pluripotent, the range of lineage options available to each cell is large, theoretically representing an unlimited source of every type of tissue that is found in the adult animal to engineer diseased tissues to regain normal function [18 - 20].

The last twenty five years have seen the development of techniques to isolate ESCs. Mouse ESCs were first isolated and grown in the UK in 1981 [21]. Since then, hESCs have been isolated and grown in the USA and Israel [22, 23]. Now, many laboratories worldwide are isolating hESCs.

hESCs have unique proliferative and differentiation characteristics which makes them a valuable cell source for cell transplantation and Tissue Engineering. These cells are derived from fertilized embryos less than a week old. Using blastocysts obtained from donated, surplus embryos produced by IVF, a group of UW-Madison developmental biologists led by James Thomson established five independent stem cell lines in November 1998. This was the first time hESCs had been successfully isolated and cultured. The embryos used in the work were originally produced to treat infertility and were donated specially for this project with the informed consent of donor couples who no longer wanted the embryos for implantation [19]. In virtually, in every IVF clinic in the world, surplus embryos are discarded if they are not donated to help other infertile couples. Alternatively, spare embryos, whether healthy, cryopreserved or the ones carrying a genetic abnormality may be donated to research laboratories.

Donated embryos are cultivated *in vitro* to day 5-6 when hatching from the zona pelucida should occur. Hatched blastocysts consist of an outer layer of cells, the trophectoderm, which will go on to form the extra-embryonic structures such as the placenta, and the inner cell mass (ICM). The ICM is isolated by immunosurgery or by mechanical separation and the cells of the ICM grown *in vitro* tissue culture conditions [22]. These cells constitute the ESCs.

Identifying ESCs, requires specific markers. The main antigen markers for hESCs are Oct 4 and some stage-specific embryonic antigens (SSEA- 3 and 4, TRA-1-60 and 81) which vary between those found on the mouse ESCs and those found on human ESCs [24]. AP and high levels of telomerase are expressed by hESCs [22, 25].

As long as the ESCs in culture are grown under certain conditions, they can remain undifferentiated (unspecialized); however, if cells are allowed to clump together to form embryoid bodies, they begin to differentiate spontaneously. They can form muscle cells, nerve cells, and many other cell types. Although spontaneous differentiation is a good indication that a culture of ESCs is healthy, it is not an efficient way to produce cultures of specific cell types. Therefore, to generate cultures of specific types of differentiated cells scientists try to control the differentiation of ESCs [26].

Since hESCs were first derived, there have been many reports describing their ability to differentiate into a variety of specific cell types, including neurons (Carpenter et al, 2001; Reubinoff et al, 2000), cardiomyocytes (Xu et al, 2002), endothelial cells (Levenberg et al, 2002), islets (Assday et al, 2001), trophoblasts (Xu et al, 2002), hematopoietic cells (Kaufman et al, 2001) and other cell types. The tissue-specific cell types derived from hESCs may have therapeutic potential for the treatment of Parkinson's disease, spinal cord injury, heart disease, diabetes and other degenerative conditions.



Figure 2.1 Directed differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells [32].

To realize the potential of these cells, reproducible and reliable production of hESCs under controlled conditions is critical. In order to develop a convenient, consistent procedure to produce cells at large scale with minimal animal-derived components, it would be beneficial to utilize a culture medium that is defined, contains only human derived or recombinant proteins, and does not require conditioning with feeder cells [27]. The recent developments of humanized, feeder-free culture systems to derive and culture human ESC, methods to genetically modify the cells, and strategies to derive highly enriched populations of functional differentiated cells of a specific type are encouraging. It is anticipated that these achievements will set the stage for further developments that may eventually allow using the potential of hESCs for cell and gene therapy [28].

Research and clinical use of ESCs is a global process and hESCs are valuable for biomedicine; but differing cultural, political, legal, and religious perspectives are potential barriers to international collaboration in this fledgling field [29]. Throughout the world, the legislature of each country regulates the use of embryos from IVF. In Europe, there is

variation of practice and legislature between each Member State. The USA also has variation in practice and legislature from State to State with a Federal embargo on the derivation of new ESCs lines currently.

In UK an independent body, the Human Fertilization and Embryology Authority (HFEA) was created in 1990. This body licenses all reproductive medicine and human embryo research in the UK. Originally the HFEA was set up to regulate reproductive medicine, but later acts of Parliament have now allowed embryonic research [30].

Turkey is among several countries in which no specific regulations and guidelines have so far been defined by legal or governmental institutions for hESCs research. Necati Findikli reported the first known derivation of hESCs from donated blastocyst-stage embryos in Turkey in 2005 (Reproductive Medicine Online, 2005). At September 2005, with the guideline numbered 19.09.2005 – 17972, hESCs researches were stopped by The Ministry of Health of Turkey until specific regulations are defined [31].

An adult stem cell is an undifferentiated cell found among differentiated cells in a tissue or organ, can renew itself and can differentiate to yield the major specialized cell types of the tissue. The primary roles of ASCs in a living organism are to maintain and repair the tissue in which they are found. The term "adult" is used to distinguish any multipotent cell from ESCs. Some scientists now use the term SSCs instead of adult stem cell and some others even use the term "fetal" stem cells for ASCs, which are derived from fetal tissue prior to birth. Unlike ESCs, which are defined by their origin (the inner cell mass of the blastocyst), the origin of ASCs in mature tissues is unknown [26].

Based on historical experiments in different animal models, an adult stem cell was first defined in the hematopoietic system; McCulloch and Till illustrated the presence of self-renewing cells in mouse bone marrow, in 1963. Previously, most of the published data with respect to the differentiation of precursor cells used already predetermined progenitor cells, derived from the organ of origin, e.g., allowing chondroblasts to differentiate into cartilage-like tissue. Due to the limited availability of tissue stem cells, there is a growing

scientific and commercial interest in the potential of ASCs derived from other sources, like the bone marrow, umbilical cord, or peripheral blood [32].

The potential of hematopoietic progenitor cells is yet best understood among all ASCs, since they have been isolated and investigated first after experiencing the effect of nuclear bombs in Hiroshima and Nagasaki. Today, adult hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are routinely isolated from the bone marrow, umbilical cord, and the peripheral blood based on the expression of the CD34 and/or CD133 antigens [35]. It also has been shown that it is possible to achieve full lympho-hematopoietic reconstitution with CD34– mesenchymal-type cells (CD34–) [36, 37].

Examples of the versatile nature of multipotent ASCs have been published in many experiments to date. They include the apparent "trans-differentiation" of BMSCs into myoblasts [38], endothelium [39-42], liver, biliary duct [43-45], lung, gut [46] or even neural tissue [47, 48]. Some authors claim that the injection of BMSCs into the heart may lead to the differentiation of progenitor cells into cells with a cardiomyoblast-like phenotype [49]; although these results are currently an issue of controversy. Other authors showed that CD34- cells from the bone marrow contain precursor cells of hepatic tissue ("hepatic oval cells") [50]. There have been further examples of cells with stem cell potential, which were defined by the expression of angiogenic receptor proteins, e.g., kinase insert domain containing receptor (KDR) [51]. It was further shown that HSCs also can differentiate in vitro into neural progenitors, myogenic tissue progenitors [52, 53] and that dystrophin expression can be restored after hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in dystrophin-deficient mice (mdx) [54]. All those experiments led to the discussion on plasticity of stem cells, suggesting that ASCs from different sources and of almost any tissue phenotype can "trans-differentiate" into other tissue progenitors depending on the appropriate conditions or the adequate lesions [55, 56].

The isolation of ASCs at sufficient purity and quantity remains difficult [26]. Thus far, no definitive markers have been identified, which would allow a positive selection for ASCs. In general, stem cells are defined by not expressing most of the tissue-specific antigens (lin–). The fact that they have to undergo self-renewal by definition does not help

in the attempt to isolate enough cells with the characteristics of stem cells. However, selfrenewal and self-maintenance are one of the most important features of stem cells, since they have to maintain a steady-state of organ function after injury or loss of function. ASCs can not be defined by a particular location within an organism (niche), because they are dispersed throughout almost any tissue in a mature organism at very different frequencies and states of activity.

They also seem to behave differently depending on their local environment. The usual environment includes the peripheral blood, which has been shown to be an easily accessible substrate for the isolation of mesodermal stem cells [57, 58]; also, the yield of stem cells is smaller than from other sources like the bone marrow are umbilical cord blood. The difficulties to isolate sufficient numbers of multipotent stem cells also is due to the mixture of cells, even among a CD34\_ apheresis product, which usually contains endothelial cells, mature immune cells, and other monocytes. Therefore, it became desirable to generate well-characterized cell lines of consistent quality, at least to proof the principles of the concept [26].

Scientists do not agree on the criteria that should be used to identify and test ASCs. However, they often use one or more of the following three methods: (1) labeling the cells in a living tissue with molecular markers and then determining the specialized cell types they generate; (2) removing the cells from a living animal, labeling them in cell culture, and transplanting them back into another animal to determine whether the cells repopulate their tissue of origin; and (3) isolating the cells, growing them in cell culture, and manipulating them, often by adding growth factors or introducing new genes, to determine what differentiated cells types they can become [33].

ASCs and stem cell-derived tissues can be useful therapeutically in replacing cells and even tissues in humans. Contrary to the impression created by advocates of destructive hESCs research, the biomedical potential of ESCs remains entirely speculative. ESCs have never been successfully used in clinical applications with human patients. By contrast, ASCs already have been used in a variety of human clinical trials and applications with considerable success [59].

Such treatments include applications for various types of cancer, including but not limited to: brain tumors [60-62], retinoblastoma [63-64], ovarian cancer [65-66], various solid tumors [67-71], testicular cancer [72-73], multiple myeloma and leukemias [74-78], breast cancer [79-82], neuroblastoma [83], non-Hodgkin's lymphoma [84-86] and renal cell carcinoma [87-88]. ASCs have also been used in treatment of autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis, systemic lupus, rheumatoid arthritis, and juvenile rheumatoid arthritis [89-91], stroke [92], immunodeficiencies and anemias [93-96] and cartilage and bone diseases [97-98]. ASCs have been used to regenerate corneas, restoring sight to previously blind patients [99-102] and also to combat blood and liver diseases [103-104]. Recently, the positive results from the first successful human trials of ASCs to treat cardiac damage were published [105-106]. Simply stated, ASCs are already being used in a wide array of human clinical trials, with many therapeutic applications having moved well beyond the experimental stage.

The Guidelines asserted that ASCs are likely to be ineffective at combating genetic diseases because the patient's own stem cells would likely contain the same genetic error, making cells from the patient inappropriate for transplantation. However, evidence from clinical studies to date belies this assertion. The first successful human gene therapy used ASCs to cure severe combined immunodeficiency syndrome [108]. Not only can genetic error be remedied while ASCs are in culture, but in many cases the correction of the genetic defect may not be necessary to affect a cure with ASCs. For instance, patients with systemic lupus have been treated with their own adult BMSCs which repaired organ damage that was previously considered permanent. This repair occurred without correcting the genetic defect present in the bone marrow cells [109].

The multilineage potential of ESCs and ASCs from certain sources has been characterized extensively. Although ESCs potential is enormous, many ethical and political issues accompany their use. Therefore, ASCs from the bone marrow stroma have been proposed as an alternative source. Originally, identified as a source of osteoprogenitor cells, BMSCs differentiate into adipocytes, chondrocytes, osteoblasts and myoblasts *in vitro* (Hauner et al, 1987; Grigoradis et al, 1988; Wakitani et al, 1995; Ferrari et al, 1998; Johnstone et al, 1998; Pittenger et al, 1999) and undergo differentiation *in vivo* (Benayahu et al, 1989; Bruder et al, 1998), making these stem cells promising candidates for mesodermal defect repair and disease management. However, the clinical use of BMSCs has presented problems including pain, morbidity, and low cell number upon harvest. This has led many researchers to investigate alternate sources for MSCs [112].

Adipose tissue is derived from the embryonic mesenchyme and contains a supportive stroma structure which is similar to the BMSCs. And also; researches have proved that ADMSCs can be induced into multiple lineages in specific culture systems similar to BMSCs. [110-112]. Recently, it has been reported that hADMSCs can be induced to express genes and protein markers associated with the chondrocyte, adipocyte, osteoblast, endothlium and myocyte [112-115].

Compared with BMSCs, ADMSCs are much more abundant and easier to obtain, carrying relatively lower donor site morbidity [116]. There is much less cell heterogeneity in ADMSCs than in BMSCs, which is caused by the mixture of HSCs and MSCs [110, 117-118]. And also adipose tissue has a large number of cells with CFU-F ability (colony-forming units-fibroblasts) or colonies expressing alkaline phosphatase (CFU-AP) [142]. They are also capable of expressing multiple growth factors, including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) [143]. Therefore, it is believed the ADMSCs represent an ideal substitute for BMSCs used in Cell-based Tissue-Engineering Applications.

After isolation of the stromal vascular fraction (SVF) from the adipose tissue, ADMSCs can be expanded in culture towards a homogeneous cell population for extended periods [112, 113]. The cultured cells show low levels of cell senescence and importantly, maintain their multipotency towards the mesenchymal lineage [113,120, 141]. Cultured ADMSCs have the capacity to differentiate into adipocytes [112, 113]; chondrocytes [112, 113, 121, 122]; osteoblasts [123, 124]; myocytes [112]; neuronal cells [125, 126] and cardiomyocytes [127]. These cells have recently been used to heal critical-size skeletal

defects in mice *in vivo* (Cowan et al, 2004). During the past several years, there has been growing interest in the applicability of ADMSCs for Stem Cell Technology and future cell-based therapies [116, 128].

Adipose tissue is available in large quantities and is easily obtained via surgical procedures. The three most commonly used procedures are resection, tumescent or conventional liposuction and ultrasound-assisted liposuction, which mostly aim at the improvement of the body-contour [129-131]. With tumescent liposuction, the donor material is infiltrated with a mixture of adrenaline and lidocaine, causing vasoconstriction and anesthesia. Ultrasound- assisted liposuction, introduced by Scuderi et al in 1987 [132], employs the use of ultrasonic energy to allow selective destruction of subcutaneous adipose tissue [133-135]. All three surgical procedures result in minimal patient discomfort and little donor site morbidity.

The potentially detrimental effect of the surgical procedures on functional characteristics of ADMSCs investigated by Varma et al, and they showed the yield and growth characteristics of are affected by the type of surgical procedure used for adipose tissue harvesting. Lower ADMSCs yields and growth capacities were observed with ultrasound-assisted liposuction material, and therefore resection and tumescent liposuction seem to be preferable rather than ultrasound-assisted liposuction for Tissue-Engineering purposes [128].

The recent surge of interest in adipose tissue as a source of adult multipotent stem cells also generated encouraging results for their use in regenerative medicine [136,137]. Adipose tissue is considered as an abundant and practical source of stromal precursor cells with great potential for soft-tissue repair and reconstruction [139, 140].

Further studies are necessary before ADMSCs can be used clinically. In particular, investigators need to demonstrate the safety and efficacy in animal models, either alone or in combination with biomaterial scaffolds. In addition, manufacturing and quality assurance issues need to be addressed. Although challenges remain, it is clear that

ADMSCs hold significant promise for future applications [144] and it is needed to develop new techniques to be able to ease *in vitro* studies of these cells.

#### 2.2 Low Level Laser Therapy

In 1967, a few years after the first working laser was invented, Endre Mester in Semmelweis University (Budapest, Hungary), wanted to test if laser radiation might cause cancer in mice [170]. He shaved the dorsal hair of the mices, divided them into two groups and gave a laser treatment with a low powered ruby laser (694-nm) to one group. They did not get cancer and to his surprise the hair on the treated group grew back more quickly than the untreated group. This was the first demonstration of "laser biostimulation". Currently, also known low-level laser (or light) therapy (LLLT) is practiced as part of physical therapy in many parts of the world. In particular, Karu and coworkers have extensively published their results on that subject.

LLLT is defined as the application of red and near infrared light over injuries or wounds to improve soft tissue healing and relieve both acute and chronic pain and also at recent studies over tissue/cell cultures *in vitro* to achieve enhanced cell proliferation and differentiation for the usage of Tissue Engineering Applications. Low-level therapy uses cold (subthermal) laser light energy to direct bio-stimulative light energy to the body's cells without injuring or damaging them. Low-level laser light is compressed light of a wavelength from the cold, red part of the spectrum of electromagnetic radiation. It is different from natural light in that it is one precise color; coherent (it travels in a straight line), monochromatic (a single wavelength) and polarized (it concentrates its beam in a defined location or spot).

These properties allow laser light to penetrate the surface of the skin with no heating effect, no damage to the skin and no known side effects. The power range of low level laser irradiation is wide and changes according to the application. LLLT includes wavelengths between 500 and 1100 nm [146].

LLLT has been investigated and used clinically for over 30 years, and the worldwide interest in LLLT is illustrated by its use in more than 85 institutions in over 37 countries [147]. Reports of LLLT applied to soft tissues *in vitro* and *in vivo* suggest stimulation of specific metabolic processes, although low doses of LLLT are stimulatory, high doses may be suppressive [148]. For stimulative effects, there is a narrow and well-defined range of parameters of light, while the inhibitive fluence and intensity ranges are not so exactly determined and are much broader [149].

In LLLT, the question is no longer whether light has biological effects; but rather how energy from therapeutic lasers works at the cellular and organism levels and what are the optimal light parameters for different uses of these light sources. Parameters such as wavelength, fluence, and intensity play the most important roles in both the stimulation and inhibition of cellular metabolism [150].

Irradiation of cells at certain wavelengths can activate some of the native components. In this way, specific biochemical reactions as well as whole cellular metabolism can be altered. This type of reaction is believed to form the basis for low-power laser effects [151-153]. It should be noted that light therapy methods based on photochemical conversion of photo-absorbing molecules are not laser-specific methods. Conventional light sources generating the appropriate wavelength can also be used. Laser sources are just handy tools providing many practical advantages (e.g., efficient fiber-optic coupling to irradiate interior body parts, high monochromaticity and easy wavelength tunability, simplicity of use and electrical safety in the case of semiconductor lasers) [154].

#### 2.2.1 Mechanism of Low Level Laser Therapy

There are numerous reviews previously published on various aspects of low-power laser effects and their mechanism, quantitative laws of visible-light action on cells photobiological fundamentals and molecular mechanisms [151, 152, 154]. Photobiomodulation (PBM) is a modulation effect of low intensity monochromatic light or LLLT on biosystems [188]. As Karu has pointed out [187], there is no effect of LLLT on

the cell which redox potential is so that the cell normally functions, and the lower the redox potential of a cell comparing with the normal redox potential, the stronger the effect of LLLT.

A photobiological reaction involves the absorption of a specific wavelength of light by the functioning photoreceptor (photoacceptor) molecule. The photoacceptors take part in a metabolic reaction in a cell which is not connected with a light response. After absorbing the light of the wavelength used for irradiation, this molecule assumes an electronically excited state from which primary molecular processes can lead to a measurable biological effect in certain circumstances. To work as a photoacceptor taking part in photobioregulation, this molecule must be part of a key structure that can regulate a metabolic pathway. Redox chains are an example of this type of key structure which fits these requirements [154].

Several lines of evidence show that mitochondria are sensitive to irradiation with monochromatic visible light. It was shown that the illumination of isolated rat liver mitochondria increased the adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis and consumption of  $O_2$  [158-161]. Irradiation with light at wavelengths of 415 [159], 602 [161], 632.8 [160], 650 [158] and 725 nm [158] enhanced the ATP synthesis. Light at wavelengths of 477, 5 [158] and 554 nm [159] did not affect the rate of the process. Oxygen consumption was activated under illumination with light at 365 and 436 nm, but not at 313, 546 and 577 nm [161]. It is also believed that mitochondria are the primary targets when the whole cells are irradiated with light at 630 [162], 632.8 [163-165] or 820 nm [166].

PBM on mitochondria was widely studied in the isolated form, in cells and *in vivo* respectively. There are also a few papers studying PBM on endoplasmic reticulum [193-195] and on Golgi apparatus [192, 193, 195]. The cross-talking between mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum and microtubules has been found [191]. There should be the cross-talking between cellular organelles so that Schenk et al [195] and Pourzarandian et al [193] have found the simultaneous change of mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus, respectively. Therefore, the cellular organelles and their cross-talkings might also mediate cellular PBM [196].

The question is which molecule in a mitochondrion is responsible for the effects mentioned above. When considering the cellular effects, Karu et al suggested that this question can be answered with the aid of action spectra [154]. This is a graph representing biological photo-response as a function of wavelength, wave number, frequency, or photon energy and should resemble the absorption spectrum of the photoacceptor molecule. It is known that within certain limits, an action spectrum follows the absorption spectrum of the photoacceptor molecule.

On the other hand, the action spectrum is insufficient to distinguish between potential photoacceptor pigments with very similar absorption spectra. Moreover, the absorption spectrum for the photoacceptor pigment may depend strongly on its environment; however this environment remains unknown as long as the photoacceptor pigment itself is unknown. Because of these inadequacies of the photoacceptor pigment, some other criteria for identification like action spectra for the DNA and RNA synthesis rate suggested by Karu et al.



Figure 2.2 Action and absorption spectras [168].

It is known that the action spectrum is roughly the same shape as the absorption spectrum of the photoacceptor. Therefore, the bands in the action spectra were identified by analogy with the metal-ligand system absorption spectra characteristic of this spectral range. The regions 400-450 and 620-680 nm are characterized by the bands pertaining to complexes with charge transfer in a metal-ligand system, and within 760-830 nm, these are d-d transitions in metals. The region 400-420 nm is typical of  $\pi$ - $\pi$  transitions in a porphyrin ring [154].

Comparative analysis of spectral data for transition metals and their complexes and biomolecules participating in the regulation of cellular metabolism allows suggesting that multinuclear enzymes containing Cu (II) may be participating. The action spectrum may be related to the cytochrome c oxidase [154]. The fact that the photoacceptors are components of the respiratory chain was considered earlier. Cytochrome c oxidase (or cyt a/a<sub>3</sub>) is the terminal enzyme of the respiratory chain in eukaryotic cells, which mediates the transfer of electrons from cyt c to molecular oxygen. Ferrocytochrome c is oxidized, dioxygen is reduced, and protons are pumped vectorially from the mitochondrial matrix to the cytosol. Free energy resulting from this redox chemistry is converted into an electrochemical potential across the inner membrane of the mitochondrion, which ultimately drives the production of ATP. Accordingly, cytochrome c oxidase plays a central role in the bioenergetics of the cell and the terminal respiratory chain oxidases in eukaryotic cells (cytochrome c oxidase) are believed to be photoacceptor molecules for red to near-IR radiation.



**Figure 2.3** Model of cytochrome c oxidase (green) showing its three subunits (I-III) and its interaction with cytochrome c (red). Heme groups (a and a3) are depicted in red, CuA and CuB centers in purple [157].

The other important consideration involves the optical properties of tissue. Both the absorption and scattering of light in tissue are wavelength dependent (both much higher in the blue region of the spectrum than the red) and the principle tissue chromophore (hemoglobin) has high absorption bands at wavelengths shorter than 600-nm. For these reasons there is a so-called "optical window" in tissue covering the red and near-infrared wavelengths, where the effective tissue penetration of light is maximized (Figure 3). Therefore; although blue, green and yellow light may have significant effects on cells growing in optically transparent culture medium, the use of LLLT in animals and patients almost exclusively involves red and near-infrared light (600-950-nm) [171].



**Figure 2.4** Optical window in tissue due to reduced absorption of red and near-infra-red wavelengths (600-1200 nm) by tissue chromophores [171].

There is certainly more than one reaction involved in the primary mechanisms of low-level laser effects. The four types of possible reactions are summarized in Figure 4. There are no grounds to believe that only one of these processes occurs when a cell is irradiated. However, recent experimental results of redox absorbance changes of living cells after irradiation [167, 170] clearly indicate that a mechanism based on changes in redox properties of terminal enzymes of respiratory chains might be crucial.

The primary physical and/or chemical changes induced by light in photo-acceptor molecules are followed by a cascade of biochemical reactions in the cell that do not need further light activation and occur in the dark (photo-signal transduction and amplification chains). Usually, the irradiation lasts on a time scale of seconds and minutes. The biological responses of cells occurring later, when the radiation is switched off, are called secondary reactions.

These reactions are connected with changes in cellular homeostasis parameters. The crucial step here is thought to be an alteration of the cellular redox state: a shift towards oxidation is associated with stimulation of cellular vitality and a shift towards reduction is linked to inhibition. It was shown that cells with a lower than normal intracellular pH, in which the redox state was shifted in the reduced direction, were more sensitive to the stimulative action of light as compared to cells in which the respective parameters were optimal or near optimal. Any shift in the redox state of a cell will necessarily alter its radiosensitivity. It was observed that the pre-irradiation of cells with laser decreased their cytotoxic response to  $\gamma$ -radiation and it was taken as an additional proof of the theory that irradiation shifts the cellular redox state [154].

#### 2.2.2 LLLT Applications

There are three main areas of medicine and veterinary practice where LLLT has a major role to play. These are (i) wound healing, tissue repair and prevention of tissue death; (ii) relief of inflammation in chronic diseases and injuries with its associated pain and edema; (iii) relief of neurogenic pain and some neurological problems [171].

Ozawa et al studied with rat calvarial cells *in vitro* to determine the target cells responsible for the action of laser irradiation and roles of irradiation on these cells during bone formation [180]. Ga-Al-As laser (830 nm, 500 mW) was used. Their results suggest that laser irradiation may play two principal roles in stimulating bone formation: stimulation of cellular proliferation, especially proliferation of nodule-forming cells of osteoblast lineage and stimulation of cellular differentiation, especially to committed precursors, resulting in an increase in the number of more differentiated osteoblastic cells and an increase in bone formation. Aihara et al applied Ga-Al-As to rat osteoclast precursor cells for 1, 3, 6, or 10 min at 24 h intervals during the culture period [176]. Their

results showed that LLLT facilitates differentiation and activation of osteoclasts via RANK (receptor activator of NF-kappaB) expression.

Stein et al investigated the effect of LLLT on proliferation and differentiation of human osteoblast cell line [178]. He-Ne laser (632 nm; 10 mW) was applied. A significant increase in cell survival and higher cell count in the once-irradiated as compared to non-irradiated cells was monitored. It was observed that enhancement of ALP activity and expression of OP and BSP was much higher in the irradiated cells as compared to non-irradiated osteoblasts. Hawkins et al also studied with He-Ne (632.8 nm) to establish cellular responses to laser irradiation using different laser fluences (0.5, 2.5, 5, 10, and 16 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) with a single exposure on 2 consecutive days on normal and wounded human skin fibroblasts. Results showed that 5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> stimulates mitochondrial activity, which leads to normalization of cell function and stimulates cell proliferation and migration of wounded fibroblasts to accelerate wound closure. Study showed that laser irradiation can modify cellular processes in a dose (J/cm<sup>2</sup>) dependent manner [184].

Forming cartilage tissue *in vitro* that resembles native tissue is one of the challenges of Cartilage Tissue Engineering. With this motivation, Gan et al studied to determine whether LLLT would improve the formation of cartilage tissue *in vitro*. Bovine articular chondrocytes were seeded on the top surface of porous calcium polyphosphate substrates. After 2 days, laser stimulation was applied daily at a wavelength of 650 nm using a laser diode with energy densities of either 1.75 or 3 J/cm<sup>2</sup> for 4 weeks [189]. Proteoglycan and collagen synthesis and matrix content were determined. Cartilage tissue morphology was evaluated histologically and observed that, there was no difference in the appearance or cellularity of the tissues that formed in the presence or absence of laser stimulation at either dosage. There were no differences in DNA content between treated and untreated constructs and live-dead assay confirmed that this treatment was not toxic to the cells. Laser stimulation at 3 J/cm<sup>2</sup> enhanced matrix synthesis resulting in significantly more tissue formation than laser stimulation at 1.75 J/cm<sup>2</sup> or untreated cultures.

In the orthopaedic field, the repair of articular cartilage is still a difficult problem, because of the physiological characters of cartilaginous tissues and chondrocytes. To find an effective method of stimulating their regeneration, Jia et al focuses on a study on the biostimulation of rabbit articular chondrocytes *in vitro* by He-Ne laser [190]. The articular chondrocytes isolated from the cartilage of the femur of the rabbit were incubated and cultures were irradiated with laser at power output of 2-12 mW for 6.5 minutes, corresponding to the energy density of 1-6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>. Laser treatment was performed three times at a 24-hour interval. After laser application, incubation was continued for 24 hours. Irradiation of 4-6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> increased the cell numbers and revealed a considerably higher cell proliferation activity comparing to control cultures. The energy density of 4 and 5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> remarkably increased cell growth with positive effect on synthesis and secretion of extracellular matrix. Their study showed that a particular laser irradiation stimulates articular chondrocytes. These findings also might be clinically relevant, indicating that LLLT is likely to achieve the repair of cartilage in clinic.

Lopes et al investigated whether LLLT can reduce muscular fatigue during tetanic contractions in rats. They were planned four groups receiving either one of three different LLLT doses (0.5, 1.0, and 2.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) and a control group. Electrical stimulation was used to induce tetanic muscle contractions in the tibial anterior muscle. There was no significant difference between the 2.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> laser-irradiated groups and the control group. Laser-irradiated groups (0.5 and 1.0 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) had significantly longer contraction values than the control group. Laser groups receiving 0.5 and 1.0 J/cm<sup>2</sup> showed significant increases in mean performed work compared with both the control group and their first contraction values. Muscle damage was indirectly measured by creatine kinase levels in plasma. A distinct dose-response pattern was found in which 1.0 and 2.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> LLLT groups had significantly lower creatine kinase levels than the 0.5 J/cm<sup>2</sup> LLLT group and the control group. They showed that doses of 0.5 and 1.0 J/cm<sup>2</sup> can prevent development of muscular fatigue in rats during repeated tetanic contractions.

Kreisler et al studied to evaluate a potential stimulatory effect of LLLT on the proliferation of human periodontal ligament fibroblasts (PDLF). Subconfluent monolayers were irradiated with an 809-nm diode laser (10 mW) operated at energy fluences of 1.96-7.84 J/cm<sup>2</sup>. After laser treatment, the cultures were incubated for 24 h. The proliferation rate of the lased and control cultures was determined by means of fluorescence activity of a
reduction-oxidation (redox) indicator added to the cell culture. Proliferation was determined 24, 48 and 72 h after irradiation. The irradiated cells revealed a considerably higher proliferation activity than the controls. The differences were significant up to 72 h after irradiation. According to this study, a cellular effect of the soft laser application is clearly noticeable [203].

## 2.3 Low Level Laser Therapy for Stem Cells

Stem cells are currently in the news for two reasons: the successful cultivation of hESCs lines and reports that ASCs can differentiate into developmentally unrelated cell types, such as nerve cells into blood cells. The spotlight on stem cells has revealed gaps in the knowledge that must be filled to take advantage of their full potential for treating devastating degenerative diseases such as Parkinson's disease and muscular dystrophy. It is needed to know more about the intrinsic controls that keep stem cells as stem cells or direct them along particular differentiation pathways. Such intrinsic regulators are, in turn, sensitive to the influences of the microenvironment, or niche, where stem cells normally reside. Both intrinsic and extrinsic signals regulate stem cell fate and some of these signals have now been identified [207].

Vacek et al and Wang et al have studied the effect of LLLT on HSCs *in vitro*. These experiments showed there is indeed the effect of low intensity laser on the HSCs and the present effect is the promotion of HSCs proliferation. In other words, low intensity laser irradiation can act as an extrinsic signal regulating stem cell fate.

Vacek et al have studied the increase in the capacity of bone marrow exposed to He-Ne laser radiation for growth of GM-CFC colonies *in vitro* [204, 205]. They found single exposure of murine bone marrow cell suspension to He-Ne laser radiation elevates the potential of HSCs for growth of GM-CFC colonies *in vitro*, and the stimulatory action of He-Ne laser persists for 60 min after short-term irradiation.

Wang et al have studied the proliferative effect of low energy laser (510.6 nm, 5 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) on human cord blood HSCs *in vitro* and the relationship between the effect of LLLT and colony stimulating factor (CSF) [206]. They observed that laser irradiation synergized with CSF in expansion of cord blood hematopoietic cell, the GM-CFUc number from the group treated with irradiation plus CSF increased significantly as compared with that from other groups including laser irradiation or CSF treatment alone or control. Reincubation of cord blood cells in the soft agar medium revealed that secondary colonies were formed and the absolute number of colony was obviously increased as compared with that before liquid culture, and the number of colony in irradiation group was more than these of non-irradiation group. Their experimental results showed that LLLT for cord blood stem cells is effective *in vitro* expansion of cord blood stem cells.

Another group suggested that the long-term effects of LLLT can involve mechanisms connected with activation of migration of stem cells towards damaged areas [199]. Stromal cell-derived factor-1 alpha (SDF-1) plays a critical role in stem cell migration towards areas of tissue injury and hypoxia. Gasparyan et al examined the influence of laser light on migration of stem cells (FDCP-mix stem cell line) in absence and in presence of SDF-1, using Transwell system with 2 connected chambers separated by a filter. The first chamber contained medium and stem cells, second chamber contained medium with or without SDF. Group 1 cells served as a control. Cells of groups 2 and 5 were irradiated by red diode laser (660 nm, 20 mW and 15 min). Cells of groups 3 and 6 received infrared (IR) diode laser (958 nm, 36 mW, and 15 min). Group 4 was SDF-1 control. Stem cells were seeded into first chamber of the Transwell system, and filters were placed into the wells containing medium with 150 ng/ml SDF-1 (groups 4-6) or without SDF-1 (groups 1-3). The count of spontaneously migrated cells was 100% in case of control. Red and IR laser light increased motility of stem cells up to 126% and 151% accordingly. Influence of SDF-1 caused directed migration of cells was 225%. Combined effects of light irradiation and SDF-1 were significantly stronger (p<0.05): 388% for SDF-1 and red laser, 427% for SDF-1 and IR laser. Study showed that laser radiation can upregulate stem cell migration towards higher SDF-1 gradient.

Gottlib et al studied LLLT (632,8 nm He-Ne laser) with MSCs seeded on threedimensional biomatrices [198]. The consequent phenotype modulation and development of MSCs towards ossified tissue was studied in this combined biomatrix/LLLT system and in a control group, which was similarly grown, but was not treated by LLLT. The irradiated and non irradiated MSC were tested at 1–7, 10, 14, 21, 28 days of culturing via analysis of cellular distribution on matrices (trypan blue), calcium incorporation to newly formed tissue (alizarin red), bone nodule formation (von Kossa), fat aggregates formation (oil red O), ALP activity, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and electron dispersive spectrometry (EDS). The results obtained from the irradiated samples showed enhanced tissue formation, appearance of phosphorous peaks and calcium and phosphate incorporation to newly formed tissue. Moreover, in irradiated samples ALP activity was significantly enhanced in early stages and notably reduced in late stages of culturing. These findings of cell and tissue parameters up to 28 days of culture revealed higher ossification levels in irradiated samples compared with the control group. This study suggested that both the surface properties of crystalline biomatrices and the LLLT have biostimulatory effects on the conversion of MSCs into bone-forming cells and on the induction of *ex-vivo* ossification.

To investigate the effects of the LLLT on stem cells *in vivo*, planarians under regenerative process were used by de Souza et al [197]. Amputated worms were divided into three study groups: a control group and two other groups submitted to daily 1 and 3 min long laser treatment sections at a power density of 910 W/m<sup>2</sup>. A 685 nm diode laser (35 mW) was used. Samples were sent to histological analysis at the 4<sup>th</sup>, the 7<sup>th</sup> and the 15<sup>th</sup> days after amputation. A remarkable increase in stem cells counts for the fourth day of regeneration was observed when the regenerating worms was stimulated by the laser radiation. These findings also encourage further research works on the influence of LLLT onto stem cells and tissue regeneration.

At a very recent study published on April 2007 by Tuby et al, the effect of LLLT on the proliferation of BMSCs and cardiac stem cells (CSCs) was investigated (804 nm, Ga-As diode laser) [200]. Isolated MSCs and CSCs were cultured and laser irradiation was applied at energy densities of 1 and 3 J/cm<sup>2</sup>. The number of MSCs and CSCs up to 2 and 4 weeks post-LLLT demonstrated a significant increase in the laser-treated cultures as compared to the control. This study clearly demonstrates the ability of LLLT to promote

proliferation of MSCs and CSCs *in vitro* and these results may have an important impact on Regenerative Medicine.

The above experiments shows that low intensity laser have a variety of biostimulatory effects and also can promote stem cell proliferation under the corresponding conditions. However there has been no sufficient work for optimum parameters of LLLT for different stem cell types or that studying laser biomodulation on stem cell differentiation yet. Moreover, as far as it is concerned, there has been no work on LLLT for ADMSCs.

#### **3. OBJECTIVE**

The goal of this study is to show the effects of LLLT on stem cells *in vitro*. The development and application of human stem cells offers a wide number of potential applications, including the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of human diseases. This is the most important motivation to use stem cells in the current research. Specifically, ADMSCs are considered to be the best to work with among MSCs; since they were first reported in 2001, their pluripotency, proliferative efficiency and low donor morbidity have been exceedingly confirmed.

A broad literature exists on LLLT with positive results for stimulation of various cell types. It is hypothesized that LLLT might also have a biostimulatory effect for the growth of ADMSCs *in vitro*. However there have been a few studies for LLLT on stem cells and although positive results of these studies, there have been no sufficient work for optimum parameters of LLLT for different stem cell types yet and need further investigations. Moreover, there has been no work on LLLT for ADMSCs.

This preliminary study was planned through a broad literature review that is described in detail in Chapter 2.

The wavelength and energy dose are two of the most important parameters of laser applications. Two different wavelengths (650 nm and 635 nm) were used here to assess wavelength dependent effects of LLLT for stem cells. 650 nm and 635 nm lasers are two of the widely used laser types for LLLT applications and since they are diode lasers, they are easier to study with cell cultures than He-Ne laser (632 nm) which is another widely used one for LLLT. Also, two different energy dose (1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> and 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) were applied for both wavelengths in order to observe dose dependent effects and find more effective dose. These two doses are chosen according to the results of similar studies.

Most of LLLT studies are reported that the stimulatory effects are achieved by repeated irradiation on consecutive days rather than one application that using the same LLLT parameters. Thus, in this study irradiation was carried out on three consecutive days that was started 24 h (attachment of the cells on the plate surface) after seeding. Importantly, this procedure enables cells to stay less time outside of the incubator. It is also helpful to prevent temperature rise caused by the increase of laser energy on culture wells during irradiation procedure.

Cell thawing and cell culture procedures performed in this experiment, that are described in Chapter 4, are the most widely used procedures all over many laboratories and any specific changes were not done for LLLT application.

In the current study, the effect of LLLT on stem cells is investigated in terms of the enhancement in cell proliferation relative to control. Counting was done on four different time intervals (5<sup>th</sup>, 9<sup>th</sup>, 14<sup>th</sup> and 21<sup>st</sup> days) to be able to compare the effects of LLLT at various stages both early and late stages.

Results were statistically analyzed by both *t*-test (comparing only two groups between each other) and ANOVA (to see the group effect comparing both three groups: Laser-1, Laser-2 and control).

### 4. METHODS

## 4.1 Consent, Cell Derivation and Identification

The study was approved by İstanbul Memorial Hospital Internal Review Board. Adipose tissues were collected from volunteer patients with informed consent of them. After collection of tissue pieces, they were extensively washed with PBS and processed for enzymatic digestion using Collagenase Type-II. Final cell suspensions were seeded on tissue culture plates containing DMEM with 10 % FBS, 1 % penicillin-streptomycin and 2mM L-Glutamine. Cellular morphology was assessed by phase contrast microscopy. Immunological characterization was performed with flow cytometry against antibodies CD105, CD29, CD90, CD45, CD34, and CD44 [177]. Identified ADMSCs were cryopreserved on the second passage and showed similar growth rate upon thawing. It was observed that cryopreservation did not affect the multilineage potentials of MSCs. ADMCs identified as mesenchymal cells were cryopreserved and stored at liquid nitrogen for latter researches.

## 4.2 Cell Thawing and Cultivation

The cells were not thawed until proper media and plasticware were on hand. The vials of cryopreserved cells were removed from liquid nitrogen and incubated in a 37°C water bath. Cells cryopreserved at second passage were used for this experiment. They were closely monitored until the cells were completely thawed. Maximum cell viability is dependent on the rapid and complete thawing of frozen cells. During thawing, the cells were not vortexed in order not to give harm to cells. As soon as the cells were completely thawed, the outside of the vials were disinfected with 70% ethanol. In a laminar flow hood, 1 or 2 ml pipettes were used to transfer the cells to sterile 15 ml conical tubes. It is important not introduce any bubbles during the transfer process. Using a 10 ml pipette, 9 ml of medium (pre-warmed to 37°C) was slowly added to the 15 ml conical tube.

DMEM with 10% FBS, 1% 2 mM L- Glutamine and 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin was used as cell culture medium. The whole volume of medium was not added at once to the cells to prevent decreased cell viability due to osmotic shock. The cells suspension was mixed gently by slow pipetting up and down twice. It is important not to introduce any bubbles. The cells were not vortexed.

Product	Company	Properties
Trypsin/EDTA Solution	Sigma	%0,05/%0,02 (w/v) in PBS w/o Ca <sup>+2</sup> , Mg <sup>+2</sup> <-20°C Volume:100ml
Penicillin-Streptomycin Solution	Sigma	10.000U/10.000 μg/ml +2 - +8 °C Volume: 50 ml
L-Glutamine	Sigma	200mM < -20°C Volume: 100 ml
Fetal Bovine Serum	Sigma	Mycoplasma tested Endotoxin tested < -20°C Volume: 100 ml
Minimum Essential Medium Eagle – Dulbecco Modification	Gibco	SterileA Includes 4.5 g/L Glucose No L-Glutamine, No Pyruvate Volume:500 ml
Phosphate Buffered Saline	AppliChem	Volume:250 ml

 Table 4.1

 Chemical and Biological Products used

The tubes were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min to pellet the cells in order to remove residual cryopreservative (DMSO). As much of the supernatant as possible was decanted. The cells were resuspended into a suitable volume of medium (pre-warmed to  $37^{\circ}$ C). For T-25 tissue culture flask, 4 - 5 ml volume was used. The cells were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator.



Figure 4.1 Incubation of stem cells

The next day and every three to four days thereafter during cultivation medium (prewarmed to 37°C) was changed to fresh. Cell density was examined every day by inverted microscopy. When the cells were 90% confluent (7-10 days after seeding), they were sub-passaged. Second passage cells after thawing were used for this experiment.



**Figure 4.2** Photographs of ADMSCs grown in T-25 culture flasks used in this study. (The left one shows cells a few days after seeding and the right one shows confluent cells a week after seeding.)

The day before laser irradiation, confluent cells at T-25 tissue culture flasks were rinsed twice with PBS and detached with 1 ml Trypsin - EDTA solution (0.25% Trypsin, 0.02% EDTA) per flask and incubated for 3 - 4 min in incubator. After detaching (cells were observed as rounded up under microscopy), medium with the same amount of Trypsin - EDTA solution (1 ml per flask) was added to flasks in order to stop enzyme activity and protect cells. The cells suspensions were added to the 15 ml conical tubes and were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes to remove enzyme solution.

After centrifugation, medium was added and cell suspensions were homogenized. Cells were counted and plated at a density  $2 - 5 \times 10^4$  cells/ml in 96-well plates (Nunc). Three groups were constituted as control (C) and two laser treated groups with different laser fluencies as  $3.2 \text{ J/cm}^2$  (L-1) and  $1.6 \text{ J/cm}^2$  (L-2) to assess the effects of LLLT on these cells. The experiment is done with 650 nm diode laser firstly and repeated for the same fluencies with 635 nm diode laser. Two of the most important laser parameters for successful treatment are the energy density (fluence/dose) and wavelength.

### 4.3 Laser Irradiation

Irradiation was carried out using 5 mW diode lasers (Type: DI650-5-3 and Type: DI635-5-3, Huanic, China) (650 nm and 635 nm) with no distance between plate surface and probe (diameter of module probes above cell suspension and diameter of wells are both equal to 0.6 cm) (Figure 4.4). The irradiation durations of the irradiation groups were calculated using the equation below:

Fluence  $(J/cm^2)$  = Output power (mW) / Application Surface (cm<sup>2</sup>) x Irradiation Duration (s)

The total irradiation durations for energy densities of  $3.2 \text{ J/cm}^2$  (L1) and  $1.6 \text{ J/cm}^2$  (L2) were calculated to be as 3 min (L1) and 90 s (L2). The energy densities used in this study, were selected at random below the therapeutic doses used in different cell cultures at previous studies.

24 h after plating in 96-well plates, cells were irradiated in the dark on days 1 (24 h after seeding), 2 and 3 (24 h between irradiations). 8 wells of every 96-well plates were used only, in order to avoid light dispersion to other wells.



Figure 4.3 8 wells used of a 96 well plate.

Irradiation durations per day were 60 s (L1 groups) and 30 s (L2 groups). After irradiation, cells were incubated (37°C) for tests. Cells were counted at Day 5 (2 days after post-irradiation), Day 9 (6 days after post-irradiation), Day 14 (11 days after post-irradiation) and Day 21 (24 days after post irradiation). All applications with cell cultures were performed under a laminar flow hood. During laser application, the lids of the plates were removed and the module probe placed above wells (equal diameters).

Power supply unit was not paced on the hood to distance it from the treatment specimen in order to limit any potential electromagnetic effects of the unit on the sample and ensure that effects are due to light delivery alone (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Laser Application.

The control plates were maintained under a laminar flow hood for a period of time corresponding to those of experimental groups but were not irradiated. Control and laserirradiated plates were chosen at random.

# 4.4 Experimental Groups

There were 6 independent groups as 650-C, 650-L1, 650-L2, 635-C, 635-L1 and 635-L2 (Table 3.1). For every group there are 4 plates for counting at days 5, 9, 14, 21. Total plate number used was 24.

Group	Control	Laser – 1 (L1)	Laser – 2 (L2)	Counting Days
	No irradiation, for Day 5 Counting	No irradiation, for Day 5 Counting Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 5 Counting		5
No irradiation, for Day 9 Counting No irradiation, for Day 14 Counting No irradiation, for Day 21 Counting		Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 9 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 9 Counting	9
		Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 14 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 14 Counting	14
		Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 21 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 650 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 21 Counting	21
	No irradiation, for Day 5 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 5 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 5 Counting	5
No irradiation, for Day 9 Counting		Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 9 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 9 Counting	9
635	No irradiation, for Day 14 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 14 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 14 Counting	14
	No irradiation, for Day 21 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 1,6 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 21 Counting	Irradiation parameters: 635 nm, 3,2 J / cm <sup>2</sup> for Day 21 Counting	21

Table 4.2Experimental Groups.

### 4.5 Cell Counting

For cell counting, the culture medium was removed from the wells and gently washed twice with PBS. The culture was separated afterwards using trypsin-EDTA solution (100  $\mu$ l / well) for about 5 min. The cell suspension obtained was then added culture medium (100  $\mu$ l / well) with the same amount of trypsin-EDTA solution. This suspension was used for statistical counts in a Neubauer chamber using an inverted microscope (Figure 3.5), randomly choosing four different areas and cell proliferation was expressed as number of cells / ml. All counting were repeated twice and average values were recorded.



Figure 4.5 Cell counting.

### 4.6 Statistical Analysis

Mean values and standard deviations were calculated. An analysis of variance (ANOVA – One way) was carried out in order to assess the group effect, a possible effect of time, and an interaction between the 3 groups (C; L1; L2) at 4 time points (Day 5, 9, 14, 21) for laser applications with two different wavelengths. Values are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviations (SD). P-values smaller than 0, 05 were considered statistically significant (p < 0, 05; n = 8). The mean values and SD values of the groups were used to plot their bar graphics.

Possible significant differences were assessed by means of the *t*-test. For *t*-test applications, a one-tailed test should be used if the hypothesis is that the mean of sample 1 is either higher or lower than the mean of sample 2; a two-tailed test should be used if the hypothesis is that the means of the two samples differ, no matter which one is higher and which is lower. Therefore, since it is hypothesized that laser groups should be higher than control groups, one-tailed test is used to compare laser groups with control groups. On the other hand, since it is not known that which dose is more effective, two-tailed test is used to compare laser groups with different doses between each other.

## 5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 5.1 shows the data obtained from the Day 5 counting results of 650 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

Well	C-650 nm	L (3	1-650 nm 3,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )	L2-650 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1	50000		25000	47500
2	47500		17500	30000
3	42500		22500	40000
4	50000		17500	55000
5	42500		27500	37500
6	25000		35000	40000
7	30000		40000	47500
8	32500		20000	45000
Mean	40000		25750	42750
SD	9636,241		8210,403	7610,789
		Statistic	al Analysis	
<i>t</i> -tes grou	st C	C vs L1	C vs L2	L1 vs L2
P-val	ues (	0,0217		0, 0028
St. Si	gn.	. Yes		Yes
	VA F	-value	Fcr-value	St. Sign.
ANOVA 9,		9,349	3,467	Yes

 Table 5.1

 Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 5 of 650 nm laser.



Figure 5.1 Counting results of 650 nm laser application for Day 5.

On Day 5 of 650 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is a statistically significant difference between C vs L1 and L1 vs L2; L1-650 group is extremely lower than two groups. However there is not a statistically significant difference between C and L2 groups. ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is a statistically significant difference between three groups and they can be arranged as: L2 > C > L1.

Table 5.2 shows the data obtained from the Day 9 counting results of 650 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

On Day 9 of 650 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is not a statistically significant difference between C vs L1, C vs L2 or L1 vs L2. ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is not a statistically significant difference between three groups.

Well	С	-650 nm	L1-650 nm (3,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )		I	L2-650 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )	
1		57500		35000		52500	
2		52500		35000		45000	
3		47500		65000		40000	
4		35000		35000		47500	
5		45000		50000		37500	
6		35000		40000		37500	
7		42500		35000		37500	
8		50000	60000			35000	
Mean		45750	48250			42500	
SD		7989,949		12374,37		6114,605	
	Statistical Analysis						
<i>t</i> -tes grou	it ps	C	vs L1	C vs L2		L1 vs L2	
P-valu	ies	0	,402	0, 103		0, 645	
St. Siş	gn.	n. No		No		No	
ANO	VA	F-	value	Fcr-value		St. Sign.	
		0	,409	3,467		No	

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 9 of 650 nm laser.



Figure 5.2 Counting results of 650 nm laser application for Day 9.

Table 5.3 shows the data obtained from the Day 14 counting results of 650 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

#### Table 5.3

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 14 of 650 nm laser.

Well	C	-650 nm	L1 (3	1-650 nm ,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )		L2-650 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1		97500		97500		90000
2		95000		97500		107500
3		82500		112500		107500
4		70000		90000		90000
5		75000		72500		85000
6		70000		90000		87500
7		62500		82500		85000
8		60000		90000		95000
Mean	76562.5		91562.5			93437.5
SD		13296,08	12642,05			9970,194
			Statistica	ıl Analysis		
<i>t</i> -tes grouj	t ps	С	vs L1	C vs L2		L1 vs L2
P-valı	ies	0	,007	0, 003		0, 476
St. Sig	gn. Y		Yes	Yes Yes		No
ANOV	VA	F-	value	Fcr-value		St. Sign.
ANVIA		4	,896	3,467		Yes



Figure 5.3 Counting results of 650 nm laser application for Day 14.

On Day 14 of 650 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is a statistically significant difference between C vs L2 and C vs L1. There is not a statistically significant difference between L1 vs L2. ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is a statistically significant difference between three groups and they can be arranged as: L2 > L1 > C.

Гable 5.4
-----------

Well	C	-650 nm	L1-650 nm (3,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )			L2-650 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1		125000		97500		100000
2		112500		90000		97500
3		97500		112500		175000
4		132500		105000		132500
5		112500		90000		145000
6		137500		95000		95000
7		125000		102500		105000
8		97500		107500		120000
Mean		117500		100000		121250
SD		15059,41		8237,545		28157,72
			Statistica	ıl Analysis		
<i>t</i> -tes grouj	t ps	С	vs L1	C vs L2		L1 vs L2
P-valı	ies	0,02		0, 396		0, 046
St. Sig	g <b>n.</b> Yes		Yes	No		Yes
ANOVA		F-	value	Fcr-value		St. Sign.
		2	,839	3,467		No

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 21 of 650 nm laser.

Table 5.4 shows the data obtained from the Day 21 counting results of 650 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

On Day 21 of 650 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is a statistically significant difference between L1 vs L2 and C vs L1 but no a statistically significant difference between C1 vs L2. L1-650 group is extremely lower than two

groups similarly to results of Day 5. However, differently from Day 5, ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is not a statistically significant difference between three groups for Day 21.



Figure 5.4 Counting results of 650 nm laser application for Day 21.

According to the overall results of 650 nm application, extent of enhancement of the cell proliferation by 650 nm diode laser irradiation was higher at 14 days post culturing than during the days of first week and third week. At Day 14, both two laser groups are significantly higher than control and L2 (1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) group is higher than L1 group (3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup>).

Table 5.5 shows the data obtained from the Day 5 counting results of 635 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

Well	C-635		L1-635 nm (3,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )			L2-635 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1	6500	00		95000		82500
2	6250	00		92500		95000
3	5500	00		67500		92500
4	6250	00		75000		97500
5	4750	00		72500		95000
6	3500	00		67500		60000
7	4500	00		92500		50000
8	6000	00		70000		67500
Mean	54062	54062,5		79062,5		80000
SD	10601	,34	12096,15			18419,71
		Stat	tistical 2	Analysis		
<i>t</i> -tes grouj	t os	C vs L	1	C vs L2		L1 vs L2
P-valu	ies	0,0004	1	0, 0009		0, 91
St. Sig	. Sign. Yes **		¢	Yes **		No
ANOV	/A	F-valu	e	Fcr-value		St. Sign.
		8,687		3,467		Yes

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 5 of 635 nm laser.

On Day 5 of 635 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is a statistically significant difference between C1 vs L2 and C vs L1. (\*\*) P-values are not only smaller than 0,05 but also smaller than the value 0,001 which proves more significant difference than all other groups. However, there is not a statistically significant difference between L1 vs L2 according to the *t*-test. ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is a statistically significant difference between three groups for Day 5 and they can be arranged as: L2 > L1 > C.



Figure 5.5 Counting results of 635 nm laser application for Day 5.

Table 5.6 shows the data obtained from the Day 9 counting results of 635 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

#### Table 5.6

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 9 of 635 nm laser.

Well	C	-635 nm	L (3	1-635 nm ,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )		L2-635 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1		125000		105000		125000
2		120000		110000		115000
3		117500		100000		105000
4		100000		112500		132500
5		102500		125000		112500
6		110000		102500		102500
7		100000		122500		135000
8		102500		120000		100000
Mean	109687,5		112187,5			115937,5
SD		9949,65	9490,362			13557,91
			Statistica	ıl Analysis		
<i>t</i> -tes grou	st ps	C	vs L1	C vs L2		L1 vs L2
P-valu	ies	0	,354	0, 182	2	0, 485
St. Sig	gn. i		No	No No		No
ANO	VA	F-	value	Fcr-value		St. Sign.
AIUIA		0	,637	3,467		No



Figure 5.6 Counting results of 635 nm laser application for Day 9.

On Day 9 of 635 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is not a statistically significant difference between C vs L1, C vs L2 or L1 vs L2. ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is not a statistically significant difference between three groups. It is important to specify that there were also no statistically significant difference On Day 9 results of 650 nm application.

Table 5.7 shows the data obtained from the Day 14 counting results of 635 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 14 of 635 nm laser.

Well	С	-635 nm	L (3	1-635 nm 5,2 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )		L2-635 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1		155000		137500		172500
2		142500		150000		175000
3		175000		175000		132500
4		132500		132500		125000
5		150000		125000		170000
6		162500		112500		127500
7		135000		115000		125000
8		145000		110000		135000
Mean		149687,5		132187,5		145312,5
SD		14232,6		22056,64		22812,81
			Statistica	al Analysis		
<i>t</i> -tes grou	st ps	С	vs L1	C vs I	.2	L1 vs L2
P-valu	ues	0	,019	0, 327		0, 22
St. Siş	gn.	gn. Yes		No		No
ANO	VA	F-	value	Fcr-value		St. Sign.
AIUVA		1,646		3,467		No



Figure 5.7 Counting results of 635 nm laser application for Day 14.

On Day 14 of 635 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is a statistically significant difference between C vs L1 and L1-635 group is extremely lower than control

group. However there is not a statistically significant difference between C vs L2 and L1 vs L2 groups. ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is not a statistically significant difference between three groups for Day 14 counting of 635 nm application. It is important to note that L1-635 group showed an inhibited behavior here and similar effect was seen on Day 5 (and also on Day 21) counting result of L1-650 group which has the same energy dose  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  with L1-635 group.

Table 5.8 shows the data obtained from the Day 21 counting results of 635 nm diode laser application with two different energy doses  $(3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  and control. There are the counting results of every eight well of every group, group mean values, SD and statistical analysis of the groups.

Well	C	-635 nm	L1 (3	1-635 nm ,2 J/cm²)		L2-635 nm (1,6 J/cm <sup>2</sup> )
1		182500		180000		160000
2		170000		187500		167500
3		157500		190000		172500
4		165000		155000		182500
5		187500		200000		162500
6		145000		157500		187500
7		172500		170000		187500
8		170000		180000		167500
Mean	168750		177500			173437,5
SD	13429,71		15754,82			11014,4
			Statistica	ıl Analysis		
<i>t</i> -tes grou	t ps	C	vs L1	C vs l	L <b>2</b>	L1 vs L2
P-valı	ies	0,	0547	0, 287		0, 664
St. Sig	gn. No		Vo *	No * No		No
ANO	VA	F-	value	Fcr-value		St. Sign.
ANOVA		0	,837	3,467		No

#### Table 5.8

Counting Results (cells/ml) and Statistical Analysis for Day 21 of 635 nm laser.



Figure 5.8 Counting results of 635 nm laser application for Day 21.

On Day 21 of 635 nm application, according to the *t*-test, there is not a statistically significant difference between C vs L1, C vs L2 or L1 vs L2 groups. (\*) However P-value for C vs L1 (0,0547) is very close to the statistically significant value (0,05) which shows L1-635 is almost significantly higher than control group (C-635). ANOVA – One way test result gives that there is not a statistically significant difference between three groups for Day 21 counting.



Figure 5.9 Proliferation rates of laser groups as relative to control on days 5, 9, 14 and 21.

Figure 5.9 shows the overall results of proliferation rates of laser groups with different wavelengths (635 nm and 650 nm) as relative to control on days 5, 9, 14 and 21. Peak values can be seen for 650 nm application on Day 5 and for 635 nm application on day 14. On days 9 and 21, groups are close to each other and control.

Days	650 nm	635 nm
5	L2 > C > L1 †	L2 > L1 > C
9	$L2 \approx L1 \approx C$	$L2 \approx L1 \approx C$
14	L2 > L1 > C	$L2 \approx L1 \approx C$
21	$L2 \approx L1 \approx C$	$L2 \approx L1 \approx C$

 Table 5.9

 Overall ANOVA results for all counting days.

Table 5.9 clearly demonstrates the counting day effect with different wavelengths. For 650 nm application there is a statistically significant difference on Day 5 and for 635 nm irradiation, it can be seen on Day 14. On all other days for both wavelengths there is not a statistically significant difference except Day 5 counting of 650 nm. (†) On Day 5, L1-650 group was extremely lower than other laser group (L2-650) and control group (C-650). Therefore, ANOVA result of the three groups calculated as statistically significant although the values of other two groups are not statistically significant between each other (*t*-test results, Table 5.1).

A number of studies have demonstrated the effect of LLLT on stem cells *in vitro* [204 -206, 200 - 198] and *in vivo* [197]; but the optimum radiation parameters for specific stem cell types are still unclear and there is no study on biostimulation of ADMSCs with LLLT. LLLT application can also be beneficial to enhance the proliferation of ADMSCs *in vitro*.

In the present study, ADMSCs culture was used to assess the effects of laser irradiation on stem cells *in vitro* and it is demonstrated for the first time that LLLT significantly promotes the growth of ADMSCs. There are significantly different results as compared to the control group for both laser groups with different wavelengths (650 nm and 635 nm) and fluencies (1,6 and 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup>).

One of the most important results of this study is time dependent effects of different wavelengths. The extent of enhancement of the cell proliferation by 650 nm diode laser irradiation was significantly higher at 14 days post culturing than the enhancements during the first week and third week (Figure 6.1). These results confirm those of previous studies suggested that light may have a very long term effect and induce late expressing alteration in cell activity. For instance, Dörtbudak et al reported that the proliferation of osteoblasts derived mesenchymal cells irradiated with 690 nm laser was significantly higher than control only after 12 days post culturing but not before [26]. Similarly, Tuby et al showed that proliferation of BMSCs by laser irradiation (804 nm, Ga-As diode laser) was higher at 3 weeks post culturing than during the first two weeks [200]. Byrnes et al studied another property except proliferation and they observed that laser irradiation (810 nm) resulted in gene expression alterations radically on 21<sup>st</sup> day, with no significant change on 7<sup>th</sup> day [181].

On the other hand, the increase in the cell growth by 635 nm diode laser application relative to non-irradiated cultures was significantly higher on 5<sup>th</sup> day but not during the second week and third week (Figure 6.1). These results are similar to those of previous studies that demonstrated enhancement of cell growth of various cell types in vitro by laser irradiation within the first few days post laser application. Likewise, Moore et al observed an increase in proliferation of both fibroblast and endothelial cells with various wavelengths only on day 4 post culturing [183]. Gottlib et al showed that laser irradiation (632,8 nm He-Ne laser) enhanced the ALP activity and the conversation of BMSCs into osteoblastic phenotype in the early stages (Day 2) [198]. Khadra et al also studied with osteoblasts and reported that the number of irradiated (830 nm, GaAlAs diode laser) osteoblasts was significantly higher than control group after 7 days post culturing [179]. Jia et al focuses on a study on the biostimulation of rabbit articular chondrocytes in vitro and they showed that irradiation (He-Ne laser) revealed a considerably higher cell proliferation activity comparing to control cultures on day 5 [190]. Planarians under regenerative process were used by de Souza et al to show the effects of the LLLT (685 nm diode laser) on stem cells *in vivo* [197]. Samples were analyzed at the 4<sup>th</sup>, the 7<sup>th</sup> and the 15<sup>th</sup> days after irradiation. A remarkable increase in stem cells counts for the fourth day of regeneration was observed when the regenerating worms was stimulated by the laser radiation with no significant differences on days 7 and 15.



Figure 5.10 Proliferation rates of laser groups as relative to control on days 5, 9, 14 and 21.

The fact assessed in this study that irradiating the same type of cells with varied wavelengths results in different enhanced proliferation stages, may be useful. By this way, different laser protocols can be used for several applications. 650 nm might be used for the long term applications with ADMSCs, like *in vitro* studies going on laboratories. And 635 nm can be beneficial to enhance the proliferation of ADMSCs from a donor patient and used for implantation within a short time interval. In an injured organ, the time of implantation post-injury may be crucial to achieve maximum beneficial clinical effect. Moreover, since LLLT has been shown to induce a cytoprotective effect on cells (increase in heat shock proteins [174], antioxidants [174] and antiapoptotic activity [173]), the laser irradiated cells may have a better long term survival post-implantation and can serve better as stem cells for production of growth factors in the host organ or participate in the regenerative process.

Karu pointed out that only the proliferation of slowly growing subpopulations can be stimulated by irradiation and it is not possible to activate a process which is activated already or occurring at speed near maximal [187]. In this case, the process which is activated already or occurring at speed near maximal is the process of the cellular state in homeostasis. The cells might be not in homeostasis on the 5<sup>th</sup> or 14<sup>th</sup> day just before confluency (it was observed that cells became confluent 7-10 days after seeding). And may be, that is why they are much more affected relative to control on these days only.

These results support the study of Liu et al which states that LLLT might modulate the disruption of biosystem homeostasis until it was restored or a new homeostasis was established [172]. Therefore, the stimulated proliferation of slowly growing subpopulations by irradiation might be higher than other stages (Figure 5.2). Furthermore, on Day 9, all laser groups show similar characteristics to control and there is no significant difference. These results may represent that the cells are in homeostasis on Day 9 (Figure 5.2).

It is unclear whether the same mitogenic stimulus is created by each wavelength or if there is difference in mechanism of cell stimulation. The current results, with time dependent wavelength effect, might be a sign for the claim of different mechanisms. Molecular biology studies are warranted to determine if there are differences in molecular responses by cells exposed to various wavelengths of laser light. These studies will help elucidate the mechanisms of laser biostimulation and may help to identify new mitogenic pathways allowing for the development of novel therapies.



Figure 5.11 Growth curves of the experimental groups with wavelengths versus cultivation days.

Most of the previous studies report the proliferation rates for only one time interval (at mostly early or late stage). For example, Moore et al presented only cell counting results on Day 4 [183]; Jia et al [190]and Quero et al [182] on Day 5; Khadra et at on Days 2, 3 and 4 [179]. Here, these rates were observed for four different time intervals which ensure comparing the effects of LLLT at various stages that enhance the value of the study. The results of one study which appear like successful for only one time interval (early or late), may show negative effects on other days that are not tested.

In the current study, wavelength (650 nm and 635 nm) and energy density (1,6  $J/cm^2$  and 3,2  $J/cm^2$ ) are variables and two different values were chosen for each. Nevertheless; output power, exposure time, irradiation period and irradiated area were held constant. However, these are additional variables that may affect cellular response to laser

irradiation. For instance; it is demonstrated with previous studies that, little differences in energy density can change cell growth, which is consistent with theories stating that LLLT can stimulate cell proliferation but only within combination of parameters in a narrow energy and power density bands. Therefore, there may be more optimum parameters than used ones in this study that will show the LLLT effects on these cells.

From the current findings, it would appear that there is not a significant difference between two energy density groups (1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> and 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) for the same wavelength groups (635 nm or 650 nm). On the other hand, the energy density of 1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> did not caused inhibition of cell proliferation oppose to 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup> in both wavelengths for ADMSCs. 1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> may be preferred for further studies. This finding is similar to some of the previous studies with different cell types. Dörtbudak et al used 1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> for bone marrow cells and found significant positive results [32]; Quero et al stated that 1,04 J/cm<sup>2</sup> was the most effective dose that they found for mammary adenoma cells [182]; Tuby et al showed that 1 J/cm<sup>2</sup> is more effective than the dose 3 J/cm<sup>2</sup> for BMSCs and CSCs [200]. Since, this is the first LLLT study with ADMSCs, it remains to be seen if energy doses other than that used in this study (1,6 and 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup>) have a different effect on the proliferation of ADMSCs and what the most effective dose is. For the right dose, numerous parameters should be taken into account like wavelength and output power and much more experimental studies should be performed.

Most of LLLT studies are reported that the stimulatory effects are achieved by repeated irradiation on consecutive days rather than one application using the same LLLT parameters: Jia [190], Khadra [179] and Byrnes [181] et al applied irradiation for 3 consecutive days; Quero et al 4 consecutive days [182]; Ozawa et al applied for 15 consecutive days [180]; Dörtbudak et al irradiated cells on days 3, 5 and 7 [32] and Hawkins et al for 2 consecutive days [184]. Thus, irradiation was done on three consecutive days in this study. It is also helpful to prevent temperature rise caused by the increase of laser energy on culture wells during irradiation procedure.

Except one group for only one time interval, there was not a significant decrease relative to control which may be viewed as cell inhibition. The cells showed a good growth

behavior without any deficiency symptoms during the entire observation period (Figure 6.2). Counting results of Day 5 showed that laser group with the wavelength 650 nm and energy density  $3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2$  (650-L1) is significantly less than control group and other laser groups; however following days the cell number increased. 650 nm diode laser with  $3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2$  may cause cellular inhibition for ADMSCs at early stages of proliferation and not a permanent effect. Besides, this inhibition can be considered as experimental error.

MSCs are considered as very important in Cell Therapy, Bioengineering and Regenerative Medicine. Specifically, ADMSCs can be induced into multiple lineages in specific culture systems similar to bone marrow and umbilical cord MSCs [113]. Moreover, ADMSCs are much more abundant, easier to obtain, there is much less cell heterogeneity and also adipose tissue has a large number of cells. They are also capable of expressing multiple growth factors. Therefore, it is believed that ADMSCs represent an ideal substitute for other stem cells used in Cell-based Tissue Engineering. The results of the present study may therefore have clinical relevance. This is the first LLLT study done with ADMSCs, therefore parameters used and results also have scientific impact.

Since MSCs are pluripotent, further investigations should take place of the effect of LLLT on MSCs phenotypic distribution, behavior, differentiation and other biochemical pathways. Histochemical analysis, electron microscopy analysis and microarray analysis might be done to be able to investigate other effects of LLLT on the growth of MSCs and to achieve more clear results. The mechanisms associated with this phenomenon and the most effective irradiation parameters remain to be elucidated by further studies.

### 6. CONCLUSION

In the present study, ADMSCs culture was used to show the effects of laser irradiation on stem cells *in vitro*. It is demonstrated for the first time that LLLT significantly promotes the growth of ADMSCs. There are significantly different results as compared to the control group for both laser groups with different wavelengths (650 nm and 635 nm) and fluencies (1,6 and 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup>).

The results of this study demonstrated that there is a time dependent effect of different wavelengths on ADMSCs. It was observed that the extent of enhancement of the cell proliferation by 650 nm diode laser was significantly higher relative to control group at 14th day. On the other hand, 635 nm diode laser application results showed significantly higher growing enhancement relative to control group on 5th day. These findings may be useful for different types of clinical applications with ADMSCs.

There was not a significant decrease relative to control which may be viewed as cell inhibition (except one group for only one time interval). The cells showed a good growth behavior without any deficiency symptoms during the entire observation period.

From the current findings, it would appear that there is not a significant difference between two energy density groups  $(1,6 \text{ J/cm}^2 \text{ and } 3,2 \text{ J/cm}^2)$  for the same wavelength groups (635 nm or 650 nm). On the other hand, the energy density of 1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> did not caused inhibition of cell proliferation oppose to 3,2 J/cm<sup>2</sup> in both wavelengths for ADMSCs. 1,6 J/cm<sup>2</sup> may be preferred for further studies.

It is believed that ADMSCs represent an ideal substitute for other stem cells used in Cell-based Tissue Engineering. The results of the present study may therefore have clinical relevance. This is the first LLLT study done with ADMSCs; so parameters used and results also have scientific impact.

### REFERENCES

1. The National Institutes of Health Resource for Stem Cell Research, *Stem Cell Basics*, 2007. Available: http://stemcells.nih.gov/info/basics/basics1.asp.

2. Weissman, I. L., "Stem cells: units of development, units of regeneration and units in evolution," *Cell*, Vol. 100, pp. 157–168, 2000.

3. Weissman, I. L., "Translating stem and progenitor cell biology to the clinic: barriers and opportunities," *Science*, Vol. 287, pp. 1442–1446, 2000.

4. Zweigerdt, R., "Generation of confluent cardiomyocyte monolayers derived from embryonic stem cells in suspension: a cell source for new therapies and screening strategies," *Cytotherapy*, Vol. 5, pp. 399-413, 2003.

5. Byung, S. Y., "Enhanced differentiation of human embryonic stem cells into cardiomyocytes by combining hanging drop culture and 5-azacytidine treatment," *Differentiation*, Vol. 74, pp. 149–159, 2006.

6. Sun, B., "Induction of human umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells with embryonic stem cell phenotypes into insulin producing islet-like structure," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, Vol. 354, pp. 919-923, 2007.

7. Musina, R.A., "Stem cells: properties and perspectives medical applications," *Mol Biol (Mosk)*., Vol. 38, pp. 563-577, July-August 2004.

8. Serakinci, N., Keith, W. N., "Therapeutic potential of adult stem cells," *European Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 42, pp. 1243–1246, 2006.

9. International Society for Stem Cell Research, *The Potential of Human Stem Cells*, 2007. Available: http://www.isscr.org/science/faq.htm#1.

10. Gluckman, E., and Rocha, V., "History of the clinical use of umbilical cord blood hematopoietic cells," *Cytotherapy*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 219-227, 2005.

11. Hal, E. B., Douglas, G., Hangoc, G., Cooper, S., "Human umbilical cord blood as a potential source of transplantable hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA, Vol. 86, pp. 3828-3832, May 1989.

12. Paolo, D. C., Georg, B. Jr., Siddiqui, M. M., Tao X., Santos, C. C., Perin, L., "Isolation of amniotic stem cell lines with potential for therapy," *Nature Biotechnology*, Vol. 25, pp. 100-106, 2007.

13. Dawn, M., Paolo D. C., Georg, B. Jr., and Atala, A., "Amniotic fluid and placental stem cells," *Methods in Enzymology*, Vol. 419, pp. 426-438, 2006.

14. Prusa, A. R., Hengstschläger, M., "Amniotic fluid cells and human stem cell research- a new connection," *Med Sci Monit,* Vol. 8, pp. 253-257, 2002.

15. Bettina, C., Portmann, L., Andreina, S., Alexander, H., Ruth S., "Placental mesenchymal stem cells as potential autologous graft for pre- and perinatal neuroregeneration," *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology*, Vol. 194, pp. 664–673, 2006.

16. Cedar, S.H., Cooke, J. A. Patel, M. R., Luo Z., Minger, S. L., "The therapeutic potential of human embryonic stem cells," *Indian J Med Res.*, Vol. 125, pp. 17-24, Jan 2007.

17. Rosler, E. S., Fisk, G. J., Ares, X., Irving, J., Miura, T., "Long-term culture of human embryonic stem cells in feeder free conditions," *Dev Dyn*, Vol. 229, pp. 259-74, 2004.

18. Spivakov, M., Fisher, A. G., "Epigenetic signatures of stem-cell identity," *Nat Rev Genet.*, Vol. 8, pp. 263-271, 2007.

19. Stem Cell Research at the University of Wisconsin-Madison, *Embryonic Stem Cells*, 2007. Available: http://www.news.wisc.edu/packages/stemcells/facts.html#1.

20. Strulovici, Y., Leopold, P. L., O'Connor, T. P., Pergolizzi, R. G., Crystal, R. G., "Human embryonic stem cells and gene therapy," *Mol Ther.*, Mar 13, 2007.

21. Evans, M. J., Kaufman, M. H., "Establishment in culture of pluripotent cells from mouse embryos," *Nature*, Vol. 292, pp. 154-156, 1981.

22. Thompson, J. A., Joseph, I. E., Sander, S. Waknitz, A., "Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts," *Science*, Vol. 282, pp. 1145-1147, 1998.

23. Shamblott, M. J., Michael, J., Axelman, J., Wang, S., "Derivation of pluripotent stem cells from cultured human primordial germ cells," *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, Vol. 95, pp. 13726-13731, 1998.

24. Amit, M., Itskovitz, J., "Derivation and spontaneous differentiation of human embryonic stem cells," *J Anat*, Vol. 200, pp. 225-232, 2002.

25. Reubinoff, B. E., Martin, F.P., Fong, C. Y., "Embryonic stem cell lines from human blastocysts: somatic differentiation in vitro," Nature *Biotechnol*; Vol. 18, pp. 399-404, 2000.

26. The National Institutes of Health Resource for Stem Cell Research, *Embryonic Stem Cells*, 2007. Available: http://stemcells.nih.gov/info/basics/basics4.asp.

27. Li, Y., Powell, S., "Expansion of human embryonic stem cells in defined serum-free medium devoid of animal-derived products," *Biotechnol Bioeng*, Vol. 20, No. 91(6), pp. 688- 698, 2005.

28. Reubinoff, B., "Current status of human embryonic stem cell research," *Reprod. Biomed. Online*, Vol. 14, pp. 121-124, Feb 2007.

29. Daley, G. Q., "Ethics," The ISSCR guidelines for human embryonic stem cell research, *Science*, Vol. 315, No. 5812, pp. 603-604, Feb 2007.

30. Human Fertilisation and Embryology Act (Research Purposes), Human Reproductive Cloning Act 200; c23, *HMSO Stationary Office*, London, UK.

31. Turkish Medicine Association, *Embryonic Stem Cells Manual*, 2007. Available: http://www.ttb.org.tr/mevzuat/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=347&Item id=35.

32. Dörttbudak, O., Haas R., Mallath, P. G., "Biostimulation of bone marrow cells with a diode soft laser," *Clin Oral Impl Res,* Vol. 11, pp. 540–545, 2000.

33. The National Institutes of Health Resource for Stem Cell Research, *Adult Stem Cells*, 2007. Available: http://stemcells.nih.gov/info/basics/basics4.asp.
34. Conrad, C., and Huss, R., "Adult stem cell lines in regenerative medicine and reconstructive surgery," *Journal of Surgical Research*, Vol. 124, pp. 201–208, 2005.

35. Fackler, M. J., Krause, D. S., and Smith, O. M., "Full length but not truncated CD34 inhibits hematopoetic cell differentiation of M1 cells," *Blood*, Vol. 85, pp. 3040, 1995.

36. Bhatia, M., Bonnet, D., Murdoch, B., Gan, O., Dick, J. E., "A newly discovered class of human haematopoietic cells with SCID-repopulating activity," *Nature Medicine*, Vol. 3, pp. 1038, 1998.

37. Osawa, M., Hanada, K., Nakauchi, H., "Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34–low/negative hematopoietic stem cell," *Science*, pp. 273-242, 1996.

38. Ferrari, G., Cusella, G., Angelis, D., Coletta, M., Paolucci, E., "Muscle regeneration by bone marrow-derived myogenic progenitors," *Science*, pp. 279, 1998.

39. Rafii, S., Shapiro, F., Rimarachin, J., "Isolation and characterization of human bone marrow microvascular endothelial cells: hematopoietic progenitor cell adhesion," *Blood*, Vol. 84, pp. 10, 1994.

40. Asahara, T., Murohara, T., Sullivan, A., "Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis," *Science*, pp. 275, 1997.

41. Lin, Y., Weisdorf, D. J., Solovey, A., "Origins of circulating endothelial cells and endothelial outgrowth from blood," *J. Clin. Invest.*, Vol. 105, pp. 71, 2000.

42. Orlic, D., Kajstura, J., Chimenti, S., "Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium," *Nature*, Vol. 410, pp. 701, 2001.

43. Jackson, K., Susan, M., Wang, H., "Regeneration of ischemic cardiac muscle and vascular endothelium by adult stem cells," *J. Clin. Invest.*, Vol. 107, pp. 1395, 2001.

44. Petersen, B. E., Bowen, W.C., Patrene, K. D., "Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells," *Science*, pp. 284, 1999.

45. Theise, N. D., Badve, S., Saxena, R., "Derivation of hepatocytes from bone marrow cells in mice after radiation-induced myeloablation," *Hepatology*, Vol. 31, pp. 235, 2000.

46. Lagasse, E., Connors, H., Al-Dhalimy, M., "Purified hematopoietic stem cells can differentiate into hepatocytes in vivo," *Nat. Med.*, Vol. 6, pp.1229, 2000.

47. Krause, D. S., Theise, N. D., Collector, M. I., "Multi-organ, multi-lineage engraftment by a single bone marrow-derived stem cell," *Cell*, Vol. 105, pp. 369, 2001.

48. Mezey, E., Chandross, K. J., Harta, G., Richard, A. M., "Turning blood into brain: cells bearing neuronal antigens generated in vivo from bone marrow," *Science*, pp. 290, 2000.

49. Brazelton, T. R., Rossi, F. M., Keshet, G. I., Blau, H. M., "From marrow to brain: expression of neuronal phenotypes in adult mice," *Science*, pp. 295, 2000.

50. Horwitz, E. M., Prockop, D. J., Fitzpatrick, L. A., "Transplantability and therapeutic effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells in children," *Nature Med.*, Vol. 5, pp. 309, 1999.

51. Petersen, B. E., Bowen, W. C., Patrene, K. D., "Bone marrow as a potential source of hepatic oval cells," *Science*, Vol. 284, pp.1168, 1999.

52. Ziegler, B. L., Valtieri, M., Almeida, G., "KDR receptor: a key markers defining hematopoietic stem cells," *Science*, Vol. 285, pp. 1553, 1999.

53. Kawada, H., and Ogawa, M., "Bone marrow origin of hematopoietic progenitors and stem cells in murine muscle," *Blood*, Vol. 98, pp. 2008, 2001.

54. Shih, C. C., Weng, Y., Mamelak, A., "Identification of a candidate human neurohematopoietic stem cell population," *Blood*, Vol. 98, pp. 2412, 2001.

55. Gussoni, E., Soneoka, Y., Strickland, C. D., "Dystrophin expression in the *mdx* mouse restored by stem cell transplantation," *Nature*, Vol. 401, pp. 390, 1999.

56. Reyes, M., Lund, T., Aguiar, D., "Purification and ex-vivo expansion of postnatal human marrow mesodermal progenitor cells," *Blood*, Vol. 98, pp. 2615, 2001.

57. Zvaifler, N., Marinova-Mutafchieva, L., Adams, G., "Mesenchymal precursor cells in the blood of normal individuals," *Arth. Res.*, Vol. 2, pp. 477, 2000.

58. Kuznetsov, S. A., Mankani, M. H., Gronthos, S., "Circulating skeletal stem cells," *J. Cell. Biol.*, Vol. 153, pp. 1133, 2001.

59. Prentice, D. A., *Adult Stem Cells,* The Coalition of Americans for Research Ethics, 2007. Available: http://www.stemcellresearch.org/testimony/prentice3.htm.

60. Dunkel, I. J., "High-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell rescue for malignant brain tumors," *Cancer Invest*, Vol. 18, pp. 492-493, 2000.

61. Abrey, L. E., Rosenblum M. K., Papadopoulos, E., Childs, B. H., "High dose chemotherapy with autologous stem cell rescue in adults with malignant primary brain tumors," *J. Neurooncol.* Vol. 44, pp. 147-153, Sept 1999.

62. Finlay, J. L., "The role of high-dose chemotherapy and stem cell rescue in the treatment of malignant brain tumors: a reappraisal," *Pediatr. Transplant Suppl.*, Vol. 1, pp. 87-95, 1999.

63. Hertzberg, H., Kremens, B., Velten, I., Beck, J. D., Greil, J., "Recurrent disseminated retinoblastoma in a 7-year-old girl treated successfully by high-dose chemotherapy and CD34-selected autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation," *Bone Marrow Transplant,* Vol. 27, pp. 653-655, March 2001.

64. Dunkel, I. J., Matsubara, H., Makimoto, A., Higa, T., "Successful treatment of metastatic retinoblastoma," *Cancer*, Vol. 89, pp. 2117-2121, Nov 2000.

65. Stiff, P. J., Ayash, L., Shea, T. C., Horowitz, S. T., "High-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation for ovarian cancer: An autologous blood and marrow transplant registry report," *Ann. Intern. Med.*, Vol. 133, pp. 504-515, Oct 2000.

66. Schilder, R. J., and Shea, T. C., "Multiple cycles of high-dose chemotherapy for ovarian cancer," *Semin. Oncol.* Vol. 25, pp. 349-355, June 1998.

67. Waldmann, V., Goldschmidt, H., Jäckel, A., Deichmann, M., Hegenbart, U., Hartschuh, W., "Transient complete remission of metastasized merkel cell carcinoma by highdose polychemotherapy and autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation," *Br. J. Dermatol.* Vol. 143, pp. 837-839, Oct 2000.

68. Blay, J. Y., van Glabbeke, M., Verweij, J., "High-dose chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation for advanced soft tissue sarcoma in adults," *J. Clin. Oncol.*, Vol. 18, pp. 3643-3650, Nov 2000.

69. Lafay-Cousin, L., Plouvier, P., Méchinaud, F., Boutard, P., Oberlin, O., "High-dose thiotepa and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in pediatric malignant mesenchymal tumors: a phase II study," *Bone Marrow Transplant*, Vol. 26, pp. 627-632, Sept. 2000.

70. Michon, J., and Schleiermacher, G., "Autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for paediatric solid tumors," *Baillieres Best Practice Research in Clinical Haematology*, Vol. 12, pp. 247-259, March-June, 1999.

71. Schilder, R. J., Johnson S., Gallo J., Kindsfather, S., Rogers, B., "Phase I trial of multiple cycles of high-dose chemotherapy supported by autologous peripheral-blood stem cells," *J. Clin. Oncol*, Vol.17, pp. 2198-2207, July 1999.

72. Bhatia, S., Abonour, R., Porcu, P., "High-dose chemotherapy as initial salvage chemotherapy in patients with relapsed testicular cancer," *J. Clin. Oncol.* Vol. 18, pp. 3346-3351, Oct. 2000.

73. Hanazawa, K., "Collection of peripheral blood stem cells with granulocyte-colonystimulating factor alone in testicular cancer patients," *Int. J. Urol.*, Vol. 7, pp. 77-82, March 2000.

74. Laughlin, M. J., Barker J., Bambach B., "Hematopoietic engraftment and survival in adult recipients of umbilical-cord blood from unrelated donors," *New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 344, pp. 1815-1822, June 14, 2001.

75. Ohnuma, K., Isoyama, K., Ikuta, K., "Cord blood transplantation from HLA-mismatched unrelated donors as a treatment for children with haematological malignancies," *Br J Haematol*, Vol. 112(4), pp. 981-987, 2001.

76. Nagler, A., Or, R., Naparstek, E., Varadi, G., Slavin, S., "Second allogeneic stem cell transplantation using non-myeloablative conditioning for patients who relapsed or developed secondary malignancies following autologous transplantation," *Exp. Hematol.*, Vol. 28, pp. 1096-1104, 2000.

77. Bruserud, O., Tjønnfjord, G., Gjertsen, B. T., Foss, B., Ernst, P., "New strategies in the treatment of acute myelogenous leukemia: mobilization and transplantation of autologous peripheral blood stem cells in adult patients," *Stem Cells*, Vol. 18, pp. 343-351, 2000.

78. Vesole, D. H., Crowley, J. J., Catchatourian, R., Stiff, P. J., Johnson, D. B., Cromer, J., "Highdose melphalan with autotransplantation for refractory multiple myeloma: results of a southwest oncology group phase ii trial," *J Clin Oncol*, Vol. 17, pp. 2173-2179, 1999.

79. Damon, L. E., Hu, W. W., Stockerl-Goldstein, K. E., Blume, K. G., Wolf, J. L., "High-dose chemotherapy and hematopoietic stem cell rescue for breast cancer: experience in California," *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant*, Vol. 6, pp. 496-505, 2000.

80. Paquette, R. L., Dergham, S. T., Karpf, E., Wang H. J., Slamon D. J, "Ex vivo expanded unselected peripheral blood: progenitor cells reduce posttransplantation neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and anemia in patients with breast cancer," *Blood*, Vol. 96, pp. 2385-2390, 2000.

81. Stiff, P., Bohao C., Wilbur F., Oldenberg D., Hsi E., Bayer R., "Autologous transplantation of ex vivo expanded bone marrow cells grown from small aliquots after high-dose chemotherapy for breast cancer," *Blood*, Vol. 95, pp. 2169-2174, 2000.

82. Koç, O. N., Gerson, S. L., Cooper, B. W., Dyhouse, S. M., Haynesworth, S. E., "Rapid hematopoietic recovery after coinfusion of autologous-blood stem cells and culture-expanded marrow mesenchymal stem cells in advanced breast cancer patients receiving high-dose chemotherapy," *J Clin Oncol*, Vol. 18, pp. 307-316, 2000.

83. Kawa, K., Ohnuma, N., Kaneko, M., Yamamoto, K., Etoh, T., Mugishima, H., "Long-term survivors of advanced neuroblastoma with mycn amplification: a report of 19 patients surviving disease-free for more than 66 months," *J Clin Oncol*, Vol. 17, pp. 3216-3220, October 1999.

84. Josting, A., "Treatment of primary progressive hodgkin's and aggressive non-hodgkin's lymphoma: is there a chance for cure," *J Clin Oncol*, Vol. 18, pp. 332-339, 2000.

85. Kirita, T., Ohgi, K., Shimooka, H., Okamoto, M., Yamanaka, Y., "Primary non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the mandible treated with radiotherapy, chemotherapy, and autologous peripheral blood stem cell transplantation," *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod.*, Vol. 90, pp. 450-455, Oct. 2000.

86. Yao, M., Fouillard, L., Lemoine, F. M., Bouchet, S., Firat, H., "Ex vivo expansion of CD34-positive peripheral blood progenitor cells from patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: no evidence of concomitant expansion of contaminating bcl2/JH-positive lymphoma cells," *Bone Marrow Transplant*, Vol. 26, pp. 497-503, Sept. 2000.

87. Childs, R., Chernoff, A., Contentin, N., Bahceci, E., "Regression of metastatic renal-cell carcinoma after nonmyeloablative allogenic peripheral-blood stem-cell transplantation," *New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 343, pp. 750-758, Sept. 2000.

88. Childs, R. W., Clave, E., Tisdale, J., Plante, M., "Successful treatment of metastatic renal cell carcinoma with a nonmyeloablative allogeneic peripheral-blood progenitor-cell transplant: evidence for a graft-versus-tumor effect," *J Clin Oncol*, Vol. 17, pp. 2044-2049, July 1999.

89. Rosen, O., Thiel, A., Massenkeil, G., Hiepe, F., Häupl, T., "Autologous stem-cell transplantation in refractory autoimmune diseases after in vivo immunoablation and ex vivo depletion of mononuclear cells," *Arthritis Res.*, Vol. 2, pp. 327-336, 2000.

90. Papadaki, H. A., Gibson, F. M., Rizzo S., Edward, C., "Assessment of bone marrow stem cell reserve and function and stromal cell function in patients with autoimmune cytopenias," *Blood*, Vol. 96, pp. 3272-3275, Nov 2000.

91. Hawkey, C. J., Snowden, J., Lobo, A., Beglinger, C., Tyndall, A., "Stem cell transplantation for inflammatory bowel disease: practical and ethical issues," *Gut*, Vol. 46, pp. 869-872, June 2000.

92. Kondziolka, D., Wechsler, L., Goldstein, S., Meltzer, C., "Transplantation of cultured human neuronal cells for patients with stroke," *Neurology*, Vol. 55, pp. 565-569, August 2000.

93. Ziegner, U. H., Ochs H. D., Schanen, C., Feig, S. A., Seyama, K., "Unrelated umbilical cord stem cell transplantation for X-linked immunodeficiencies," *J Pediatr*, Vol. 138, pp. 570-573, April 2001.

94. Amrolia, P., Hubert, B., Gaspar, A. H., Webb, D., "Non-myelo-ablative stem cell transplantation for congenital immunodeficiencies," *Blood*, Vol. 96, pp. 1239-1246, Aug. 2000.

95. Gurman, G., Kahveci, G., Akan, H. I., Ilhan, O., Koc, H., "Allogeneic peripheral blood stem cell transplantation for severe aplastic anemia," *Ther Apher*, Vol. 5(1), pp. 54-57, Feb. 2001.

96. Yesilipek, M. A., Hazar, V., Küpesiz, A., "Peripheral stem cell transplantation in a child with amegakaryocytic thrombocytopenia," *Bone Marrow Transplant*, Vol. 26, pp. 571-572, Sept. 2000.

97. Robinson, D., Ash, H., Yayon, A., Nevo, Z., Aviezer, D., "Characteristics of cartilage biopsies used for autologous chondrocytes transplantation," *Cell Transplant*, Vol. 10(2), pp. 203-208, 2001.

98. Horwitz, E. M., Prockop, D. J., Lorraine, A., Winston W. K., "Transplantability and therapeutic effects of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells in children with osteogenesis imperfecta," *Nat. Med.*, Vol. 5, pp. 309-313, March 1999.

99. Anderson, D. F., Pierre, E., Renato, T., Piresa, F., Scheffer, C. G., "Amniotic membrane transplantation for partial limbal stem cell deficiency," *Br J Ophthalmol.*, Vol. 85, pp. 567-575, May 2001.

100. Henderson, T. R., Coster, D., Williams, K., "The long term outcome of limbal allografts: the search for surviving cells," *Br J Ophthalmol.*, Vol. 85, pp. 604-609, May 2001.

101. Daya, S. M., Ilari, F. A., "Living related conjuctival limbal allograft for the treatment of stem cell deficiency," *Opthalmology*, Vol. 180, pp. 126-133, January 2001.

102. Schwab, I. R., Reyes, M., Isseroff, R. R., "Successful transplantation of bioengineered tissue replacements in patients with ocular surface disease," *Cornea*, Vol. 19, pp. 421-426, July 2000.

103. Matthes-Martin, S., Peters, C. Königsrainer A., Fritsch, G., Lion, T., "Successful stem cell transplantation following orthotopic liver transplantation from the same haploidentical family donor in a girl with hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis," *Blood*, Vol. 96, pp. 3997-3999, Dec 2000.

104. Sezer, O., Niemöller K., Jakob C., Langelotz, C., "Novel approaches to the treatment of primary amyloidosis," *Exper Opin. Investig. Drugs*, Vol. 9, pp. 2343-2350, Oct 2000.

105. Menasché, P., Hagege A. A., Scorsin, M., Pouzet, B., "Myoblast transplantation for heart failure," *Lancet*, Vol. 357, pp. 279-280, 2001.

106. Oakley, R. M., Cheong O., Bongso, A. "Myocyte transplantation for cardiac repair: A few good cells can mend a broken heart," *Annals of Thoracic Surgery*, Vol. 71, pp. 1724 –1733, 2001.

107. Serakinci, N., Keith, W. N., "Therapeutic potential of adult stem cells," *European Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 42, pp. 1243–1246, 2006.

108. Cavazzana-Calvo M., Thrasher, A., von Kalle C., "Gene therapy of human severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID)-X1 disease," *Science*, pp. 669, Apr. 2000.

109. Traynor, A. E., Schroeder, J., Rosa, R. M. "Treatment of severe systemic lupus erythematosus with high-dose chemotherapy and haemopoietic stem-cell transplantation: a phase-I study," *Lancet*, pp. 701, Aug. 2000.

110. Hui, J. H., Li, L., Teo, Y. H., Ouyang, H. W., Lee, E. H., "Comparative study of the ability of mesenchymal stem cells derived from bone marrow, periosteum, and adipose tissue in treatment of partial growth arrest in rabbit," *Tissue Eng.*, Vol. 11(5–6), pp. 904–912, 2005.

111. Wagner, W., Wein, F., Seckinger, A., Frankhauser, M., "Comparative characteristics of mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow, adipose tissue, and umbilical cord blood," *Exp Hematol.*, Vol. 33(11), pp. 1402–1416, 2005.

112. Zuk, P. A., Ashjian, P., Daniel, A., Ugarte, D., "Human adipose tissue is a source of multipotent stem cells," *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, Vol. 13, pp. 4279–4295, December 2002.

113. Zuk, P. A., Zhu, M., Mizuno, H., "Multilineage cells from human adipose tissue: Implications for cell-based therapies," *Tissue Eng.*, Vol. 7, pp. 211–228, 2001.

114. Lee, J. H., Kemp, D. M., "Human adipose-derived stem cells display myogenic potential and perturbed function in hypoxic conditions," *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*, Vol. 341(3), pp. 882–888, 2006.

115. Kokai, L. E., Rubin, J. P., Marra, K. G., "The potential of adipose-derived adult stem cells as a source of neuronal progenitor cells," *Plast Reconstr Surg.*, Vol. 116(5), pp. 1453–1460, 2005.

116. Yunfeng, L., Lei, L., Zhiyong, L., "Pluripotency potential of human adipose-derived stem cells marked with exogenous green fluorescent protein," *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, Vol. 291, pp. 1–10, 2006.

117. Fraser, J. K., Hedrick M. H., "Multipotential differentiation of adipose tissue derived stem cells," *Keio J Med.*, Vol. 54(3), pp. 132–141, 2005.

118. Halvorsen, Y. D., Bond, A., Sen, A., Franklin, D.M., "Thiazolidinediones and glucocorticoids synergistically induce differentiation of human adipose tissue stromal cells: Biochemical, cellular, and molecular analysis," *Metab Clin Exp.*, Vol. 50(4), pp. 407–413, 2001.

119. Hauner, H., Schmid, P., and Pfeiffer E.F., "Glucocorticoids and insulin promote the differentiation of human adipocyte precursor cells into fat cells," *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.*, Vol. 64, pp. 832-835, 1987.

120. Pittenger, M. F., Mackay, A. M., Beck, S. C., "Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells," *Science*, Vol. 284, pp. 143-147, 1999.

121. Majumdar, M. K., Banks, V., Peluso D. P., "Isolation, characterization, and chondrogenic potential of human bone marrowderived multipotential stromal cells," *J Cell Physiol.*, Vol. 185, pp. 98-106, 2000.

122. Erickson, G. R., Gimble, J. M., Franklin, D. M., "Chondrogenic potential of adipose tissuederived stromal cells in vitro and in vivo," *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*, Vol. 290, pp. 763 -769, 2002.

123. Halvorsen, Y. C., Wilkison, W. O., Gimble, J. M., "Adipose-derived stromal cells; their utility and potential in bone formation," *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.*, Vol. 24, pp. 41-44, 2000.

124. Halvorsen, Y. D., Franklin, D., Bond, A. L., "Extracellular matrix mineralization and osteoblast gene expression by human adipose tissue-derived stromal cells," *Tissue Eng.*, Vol. 7, pp. 729-741, 2001.

125. Ashjian, P. H., Elbarbary, A. S., Edmonds, B., "In vitro differentiation of human processed lipoaspirate cells into early neural progenitors," *Plast Reconstr Surg.*, Vol. 111, pp. 1922 -1931, 2003.

126. Safford, K. M., Hicok, K. C., Safford, S. D., "Neurogenic differentiation of murine and human adipose-derived stromal cells," *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*, Vol. 294, pp. 371-379, 2002.

127. Rangappa, S., Fen, C., Lee, E. H., "Transformation of adult mesenchymal stem cells isolated from the fatty tissue into cardiomyocytes," *Ann Thorac Surg.*, Vol. 75, pp. 775-779, 2003.

128. Oedayrajsingh-Varma, M. J., Ham, S., Knippenberg, M., "Adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell yield and growth characteristics are affected by the tissue-harvesting procedure," *Cytotherapy*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 166-177, 2006.

129. Illouz, Y. G., "Illouz's technique of body contouring by lipolysis," *Clin Plast Surg.*, Vol. 11, pp. 409-417, 1984.

130. Dolsky, R. L., "Body sculpturing by lipo-suction extraction," *Aesthetic Plast Surg.*, Vol. 8, pp. 75-83, 1984.

131. Illouz, Y. G., "Body contouring by lipolysis: a 5-year experience with over 3000 cases," *Plast Reconstr Surg.*, Vol. 72, pp. 591-597, 1983.

132. Scuderi, N., De Vita, R., D'Andrea F., "Nouve prospettive nella liposuzione: la lipoemulsificazione, G Chir., Vol. 2, pp. 1-10, 1987.

133. Miller, D. L., Thomas, R. M., Frazier, M. E., "Ultrasonic cavitation indirectly induces single strand breaks in DNA of viable cells in vitro by the action of residual hydrogen peroxide," *Ultrasound Med Biol.*, Vol. 17, pp. 729-735, 1991.

134. Topaz, M., Motiei, M., Gedanken, A., "EPR analysis of radicals generated in ultrasound-assisted lipoplasty simulated environment," *Ultrasound Med Biol.*, Vol. 27, pp. 851-859, 2001.

135. Suslick, K. S., Doktycz, S. J., Flint, E. B., "On the origin of sonoluminescence and sonochemistry," *Ultrasonics*, Vol. 28, pp. 280-290, 1990.

136. De Ugarte, D. A., Ashjian, P. H., Elbarbary, A., Hedrick, M. H., "Future of fat as raw material for tissue regeneration," *Ann Plast Surg.*, Vol. 50(2), pp. 215–219, 2003.

137. Gomillion, C. T., Burg, K. J., "Stem cells and adipose tissue engineering," *Biomaterials*, Vol. 27(36), pp. 6052–6063, 2006.

138. Strem, B. M., Hedrick, M. H., "The growing importance of fat in regenerative medicine," *Trends Biotechnol.*, Vol. 23(2), pp. 64–66, 2005.

139. Vermette, M., Valérie, T., Ménarda, V., "Production of a new tissue-engineered adipose substitute from human adipose-derived stromal cells," *Biomaterials*, doi: 10,1016, 2007.

140. Mathew, M. A., "Adipogenesis: From stem cell to fat cell," *J Am Acad Dermatol.*, Vol. 56, No: 3, March 2007.

141. Dicker, A., Le Blanc, K., Aström, G., van Harmelen, V., "Functional studies of mesenchymal stem cells derived from adult human adipose tissue," *Experimental Cell Research.*, Vol. 308, pp. 283 – 290, 2005.

142. Fraser, J. K., "Fat tissue: an underappreciated source of stem cells for biotechnology," *Trends in Biotechnology*, Vol.24, No.4, April 2006.

143. Rehman, J., Traktuev, D., Jingling, L., "Secretion of angiogenic and antiapoptotic factors by human adipose stromal cells," *Circulation*, Vol. 109, pp. 1292–1298, 2004.

144. Gimble, J. M., and Guilak, F., "Adipose-derived adult stem cells: isolation, characterization and differentiation potential," *Cytotherapy*, Vol. 5, No. 5, pp. 362-369, 2003.

145. Poesnecker, G. E., *It is Only Natural*, Philosophical Pub Co, 1975. Available: http://www.healing.org/only-7.html.

146. Basford, J. R., "Low intensity laser therapy: still not an established clinical tool," *Lasers Surg Med.*, Vol. 16(4), pp. 33–342, 1995.

147. Tuner, J., Hode, L., "Laser therapy; Clinical practice and scientific background," Sweden, Grangesberg: *Prima Books*, pp. 571, 2002.

148. Schindl, A., Schindl, M., Pernerstorfer-Schon, H., Schindl, L., "Low-intensity laser theapy: a review," *J Investig Med.*, Vol. 48(5), pp. 312–326, 2000.

149. Karu, T. I., "Low intensity laser light action upon fibroblasts and lymphocytes,", October 1990 ILTA congress, *Wiley, West Sussex*, England, pp. 175–179.

150. Houreld, N. N. and Abrahamse, H., "Laser light influences cellular viability and proliferation in diabetic-wounded fibroblast cells in a dose- and wavelength-dependent manner," *Lasers Med Sci.*, doi:10.1007/s10103-007-0445-y, 2007.

151. Karu, T. I., "Photobiological fundamentals of low-power laser therapy," IEEE J. Quantum Electron, QE-23, pp. 1703-1717, 1987.

152. Karu, T. I., "Photobiology of low-power laser effects," *Health Phys*, Vol. 56, pp. 691-704, 1989.

153. Smith, K. S., "The photobiological basis of low-level laser radiation therapy," *Laser Therapy*, pp. 19-25, 1991.

154. Karu, T. I., "Primary and secondary mechanisms of action of visible to near-IR radiation on cells," *J. Photochem. Photobiol, B: Biol.*, Vol. 49, pp. 1-17, 1999.

155. Arisu, H., Türköz, E., Bala, O., "Effects of Nd:Yag laser irradiation on osteoblast cell cultures," *Lasers Med Sci.*, 21: 175–180, doi:10.1007/s10103-006-0398-6, 2006.

156. Kimberly, R. B., "Low power laser irradiation alters gene expression of olfactory ensheathing cells in vitro," *Lasers in Surgery and Medicine*, Vol. 37, pp. 161–171, 2005.

157. Marshall University Researches, *Model of cytochrome c oxidase*, 2007. Available: http://ebpages.marshall.edu/.../cytox.html.

158. Gordon, S. A., Surrey, K., "Red and far-red light action on oxidative phosphorulation," *Radial. Res.*, Vol. 12, pp. 339, 1960.

159. Kate, M., Shinizawa, K. and Yoshikawa, S. "Cytochrome oxidase is a possible photoreceptor in mitochondria," *Photobiochem. Photobiophys*, Vol. 2, pp. 263-269, 1981.

160. Pasarella, S., Casamassimas, F., Molinari, D., Pastore, E., Quagliariello, I. M., "Increase of proton electrochemical potential and ATP synthesis in rat liver mitochondria irradiated in vitro by He-Ne laser," *FEBS Lett.*, Vol. 175, pp. 95-99, 1984.

161. Vekshin, N. L. and Mironov, G. P., "Flavin-dependent oxygen uptake in mitochondria under illumination," *Biophyscs*, Vol. 27, pp. 537-539, 1982.

162. Hilf, R., Murant, R. S., Narayanan, U., Gibson, S.L., "Relationship of mitochondrial function and cellular adenosine hiphosphate levels to hematoporphyrin derivative-induced photosensitization in R3230AC mammary tumors," *Cancer Res.*, Vol. 46, pp. 211-217, 1986.

163. Karu, T., Pyatibrat, L., Kalendo, G., "Irradiation with He-Ne laser increases ATP level in cells cultivated in vitro," *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol.*, Vol. 27, pp. 219-223, 1995.

164. Bakeeva, L. E., Manteifel, V. M., Rodichev, E. B., Karu, T., "Formation of giant mitochondria in human blood lymphocytes after He-Ne laser irradiation," *Molec. Biol.*, Moscow, Vol. 27, pp. 608-617, 1993.

165. Manteifel, V., Bakeeva, L., Karu, T., "Ultrastructural changes in chondriome of human lymphocytes after irradiation with He-Ne laser: appearance of giant mitochondria," *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol.*, Vol. 38, pp. 25-30, 1997.

166. Herbert, K. E., Bhusate, L. L., Scott, D. L., Diamantopoulos, C., Perrett, D. "Effect of laser light at 820 nm on adenosine nucleotide levels in human lymphocytes," *Lasers Life Sci.*, Vol. 3, pp. 37-46, 1989.

167. Karu, T. I., Afanasyeva, N. I., Kolyakov, S. F., Pyatibrat, L. V., "Changes in absorption spectra of monolayer of living cells after irradiation with low intensity laser light," *SPIE Proc.* Vol. 3198, pp. 2-11, 1997.

168. University of Arkansas Biology Department, *Action Spectra*, 2007. Available: http://www.ualr.edu/botany/spectra.gif.

169. Dube, A., Gupta, P. K., Bharti, S., "Redox absorbance changes of the respiratory chain components of E. coli following He-Ne laser irradiation," *Lasers Life Sci*, Vol. 7, pp. 173-180, 1997.

170. Mester, E., Szende, B., Gartner, P., "The effect of laser beams on the growth of hair in mice," *Radiobiol Radiother.*, Vol. 9, pp. 621-626, 1968.

171. Michael R Hamblin and Tatiana N Demidova, "Mechanisms of low level light therapy," *Proc. of SPIE*, Vol. 6140, No. 614001, 2006.

172. Liu, T.C.Y., "Homeostatic photobiomodulation," Annual meeting of ASLMS, 2007.

173. Shefer, G., Partridge, T.A., Heslop, L, Gross, J. G., "Low-energy laser irradiation promotes the survival and cell cycle of skeletal muscle satellite cells," *Cell Sci.*, Vol. 115, pp. 1461–1469, 2002.

174. Yaakobi, T., Shoshany, Y., Levkovitz, S., Rubin, O., "Long term effect of low energy laser irradiation on infarction and reperfusion injury in the rat heart," *J Appl Physiol*, Vol. 90, pp. 2411–2419, 2001.

175. Saito, S., Shimizn, N., "Stimulatory effects of low-power laser irradiation on bone regeneration in midpalatal suture during expansion in the rat," *American J of Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, Vol. 111, pp. 525–32, 1997.

176. Aihara, N., Yamaguchi, M., Kasai, K., "Low-energy irradiation stimulates formation of osteoclast-like cells via RANK expression in vitro," *Lasers Med Sci.*, Vol. 21(1), pp. 24-33, 2006.

177. Findikli, N., Kahraman, S., "Human adipose and embryonic stem cell lines," *PGDIS Annual meeting on Special Topic*, Nuclear Transfer & Reprogramming, Belize, 2-5 February 2006.

178. Stein, A., Benayahu, D., Maltz, L., Oron, U., "Low-level laser irradiation promotes proliferation and differentiation of human osteoblasts in vitro," *Photomed Laser Surg.*, Vol. 23(2) pp. 161-166, 2005.

179. Khadra M., Kasem, N., Haanaes, H. R., Ellingsen, J. E., Lyngstadaas S. P., "Enhancement of bone formation in rat calvarial bone defects using low-level laser therapy," *Oral Surg Oral Med. Oral Pathol. Oral Radiol. Endod*, Vol. 97, pp. 693-700, Jun 2004.

180. Ozawa, Y., Shimizu, N., Kariya, G., Abiko, Y., "Low-energy laser irradiation stimulates bone nodule formation at early stages of cell culture in rat calvarial cells," *Bone*, Vol. 22, No. 4, pp. 347–354, April 1998.

181. Byrnes, K. R., Xingjia W., Ronald W. W., "Low power laser irradiation alters gene expression of olfactory ensheathing cells in vitro," *Lasers in Surgery and Medicine*, Vol. 37, pp. 161–171, 2005.

182. Quero, J. M., Villamandos, G, Moreno, M., "Effect of helium-neon (he-ne) laser irradiation on dog neoplasm cells in culture," *Lasers Med Sci*, Vol. 13, pp. 143–147, 1998.

183. Moore, P., Ridgway, T. D., Higbee, R.G., Howard, E.W., "Effect of wavelength on lowintensity laser irradiation-stimulated cell proliferation in vitro," *Lasers in Surgery and Medicine*, Vol. 36, pp. 8–12, 2005.

184. Hawkins, D. H., Abrahamse, H., "The role of laser fluence in cell viability, proliferation, and membrane integrity of wounded human skin fibroblasts following helium-neon laser irradiation," *Lasers Surg Med.*, Vol. 38(1), pp. 74-83, 2006.

185. Al-Watban, F. A., Delgado, G. D., "Burn healing with a diode laser: 670 nm at different doses as compared to a placebo group," *Photomed Laser Surg.*, Vol. 23(3), pp. 245-250, 2005.

186. Berlien, H. P., Müller, G. J., "Applied Laser Medicine," eds. *Springer-Verlag*, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, pp. 740, ISBN 3-540-67005-X, 2003.

187. Karu, T., "The Science of Low-Power Laser Therapy," Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Amsterdam, 1998.

188. Eells, J. T., Henry, M. M., "Therapeutic photobiomodulation for methanol-induced retinal toxicity," Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA, Vol. 100(6), pp. 3439-3444, 2003.

189. Gan, L., Tse, C., Pilliar, R.M., Kandel, R.A., "Low-power laser stimulation of tissue engineered cartilage tissue formed on a porous calcium polyphosphate scaffold," *Lasers Surg Med.*, Vol. 39, pp. 286-293, Mar 2007.

190. Jia, Y. L., Guo, Z. Y., "Effect of low-power He-Ne laser irradiation on rabbit articular chondrocytes in vitro," *Lasers Surg Med.*, Vol. 37(4), pp. 330, Oct 2005.

191. Mironov, S. L., Ivannikov, M. V., Johansson, M., " $[Ca^{2+}]$  signaling between mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum in neurons is regulated by microtubules. From mitochondrial permeability transition pore to  $Ca^{2+}$  - induced  $Ca^{2+}$  - release," *J. Biol. Chem.*, Vol. 280(1), pp. 715-721, 2005.

192. Yamada, K., "Biological effects of low power laser irradiation on clonal osteoblastic cells (MC3T3-E1)," *Nippon Seikeigeka Gakkai Zasshi*, Vol. 65(9), pp. 787-799, 1991.

193. Pourzarandian, A., Watanabe, H., Ruwanpura, S. M., Ishikawa, A. I., "Effect of low-level Er:YAG laser irradiation on cultured human gingival fibroblasts," *J Periodontol.*, Vol. 6(2), pp. 187-193, 2005.

194. Zolotareva, T. A., Oleshko, A., Oleshko, T. I., "Antioxidant effect of low intensity laser infrared irradiation," *Vopr Kurortol Fizioter Lech Fiz Kult.*, Vol. 3, pp. 3-5, 2001.

195. Schenk, P., Porteder, H., Zetner, K., "The Helium-neon laser effect on skin and oral mucosal tissue," *Laryngol Rhinol Otol* (Stuttg), Vol. 65(3), pp. 146-150, 1986.

196. Liu, T. C., "Cellular rehabilitation of photobiomodulation," SPIE Vol. 6534 653403-1, 2007.

197. de Souza, S. A., Munin, E., Alves, L., P., Salgado., M. A., "Low power laser radiation at 685 nm stimulates stem-cell proliferation rate in Dugesia tigrina during regeneration," *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, Vol. 80, pp. 203–207, 2005.

198. Gottlib, L. A., Gross, T., Naveh, D., Geresh, S., "Low level laser irradiation stimulates osteogenic phenotype of mesenchymal stem cells seeded on a three-dimensional biomatrix," *Lasers in Medical Science*, Vol. 20, pp. 138–146, 2005.

199. Gasparyan, L., Grigory B., Makela, A., "Influence of laser radiation on migration of stem cells," *SPIE*, Vol. 6140, doi: 10.1117/12.645961, 2006.

200. Tuby, H., Maltz, L., Oron, U., "Low-Level Laser Irradiation (LLLI) Promotes Proliferation of Mesenchymal and Cardiac Stem Cells in Culture," *Lasers in Surgery and Medicine*, Vol. 39, pp. 373–378, 2007.

201. Pourreau-Schneider, N. A., Almied, M., Soudry, J., Jacquemier, F., Kopp, J. C., Franquin P. M., "Helium-neon laser treatment transforms fibroblasts into myofibroblasts," *Am J Pathol.*, Vol. 137(1), pp. 171–178, 1990.

202. Lickliter, D., Smith, F. M., "Embryonic stem cells express multiple Eph-subfamily receptor tyrosine kinases," *Proc. Nati. Acad. Sci.* USA, pp. 145–150, 1996.

203. Kreisler, M., Christoffers, A. B., Willershausen, B., d'Hoedt, B., "Effect of low-level GaAlAs laser irradiation on the proliferation rate of human periodontal ligament fibroblasts: an in vitro study," *J Clin Periodontol.*, Vol. 30, 353-358, Apr 2003.

204. Vacek, A., Bartonickova, A. Vesela Z. and Petru, F. "Increase in colony-forming capacity of the haemopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow exposed to the He-Ne laser radiation in vitro," *Folia Biol* (Praha), Vol. 28(6), pp. 426–430, 1982.

205. Vacek, A., Bartonickova, A. and Rotkovska, D., "Increase in the capacity of bone marrow exposed to He-Ne laser radiation for growth of GM-CFC colonies in vitro," Folia Biol (Praha), Vol. 36(1), pp. 65-70, 1990.

206. Wang, L. C., Sun, Y., Ouyang, H., Wang, X., Qian, M., "Proliferative effect of low energy laser and colony stimulating factor on human umbilical cord blood hematopoietic cells," *Natl Med J China*, pp. 287-289, 1998.

207. Timon, C. L., Duan, R., "Laser biomodulation on stem cells", *SPIE*, Vol. 4427, No. 0277-786X/01/\$15.00, 2001.